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1. Name of Property

historic name Fort Lyon

other names/site number Las Animas, Colorado, U.S. Naval Hospital; 5BN117

2. Location

street & number _ntersection of Bent County Rd 15 and Fort Lyon Gate Rd __ [N/A] not for publication

city or town Las Animas [X] vicinity

state Colorado code CO county _Bent code _011 zip code _81038

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, | hereby certify that this

[X] nomination [ ] request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the
National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In
my opinion, the property [X] meets [ ] does not meet the National Register criteria. | recommend that this property be
considered significant [ ] nationally [X] statewide [ ]locally. ([ ] See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

WW/&L} State Historic Preservation Officer / J’/ / &/ 0‘3
Signature of cefyifying official/Title O d Date

Office of Archaeology and Historic Preservation, Colorado Historical Society
State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property [%eets [ 1does not meet the National Register criteria.
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4, National Park Service Certification
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entered in the National Register

] See continuation sheet.
[ ] determined eligible for the
National Register
[ 1 See continuation sheet.
[ ] determined not eligible for the
National Register.
[ 1removed from the
National Register
[ Jother, explain =~
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Fort Lyon

Name of Property

Bent County, Colorado

County/State

5. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property
(Check as many boxes as apply) (Check only one box)
[X] private [ 1 building(s)
[ ] public-local [X] district
[X] public-State [ ]site
[X] public-Federal [ ] structure
[ ]object

Name of related multiple property listing.
(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing.)

N/A

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not count previously listed resources.)
Contributing Noncontributing

74 4 buildings
2 0 sites

14 16 structures
1 0 objects

91 20 Total

Number of contributing resources
previously listed in the National Register.

0

6. Function or Use

Historic Function

(Enter categories from instructions)

Health Care / hospital

Defense / military facility

Domestic / institutional housing

_Agricultural/Subsistence / agricultural field

Health Care / sanitarium

Current Functions

(Enter categories from instructions)

Government / correctional facility

Domestic / institutional housing

7. Description

Architectural Classification

(Enter categories from instructions)

Late 19" and 20" Century Revivals

Georgian Revival

Late 191 and Early 20" Century American Movements

Bungalow / Craftsman

Narrative Description

Materials

(Enter categories from instructions)

foundation Sandstone

walls Brick

Weatherboard

Sandstone

roof Asphalt

Ceramic tile

other Terra cotta

Concrete

(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)



Fort Lyon

Name of Property

Bent County, Colorado

County/State

8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria

g\llark “'x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National
egister listing.)

[X] A Property is associated with events that have made a
significant contribution to the broad patterns of our
history.

[ 1 B Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

[X] C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a
type, period, or method of construction or represents
the work of a master, or possesses high artistic
values, or represents a significant and
distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

[ 1 D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information
important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark “*x" in all the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

[ 1 A owned by a religious institution or used for religious
purposes.

[ 1 B removed from its original location.

[ 1 € abirthplace or grave.

[ 1 D acemetery.

[ 1 E areconstructed building, object, or structure.
[ 1 F acommemorative property.

[X] G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance
within the past 50 years.

Narrative Statement of Significance

(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

Areas of Significance

(Enter categories from instructions)

Health / Medicine

Military

Ethnic Heritage: Native American

Ethnic Heritage: Black

Ethnic Heritage: European

Architecture

Periods of Significance
1906-1922

1922-1956

1868-1889

Significant Dates
1906-1919

1932-1934

1867-1868

1868-1869

1956

Significant Person(s)

(Complete if Criterion B is marked above).

N/A

Cultural Affiliation
N/A

Architect/Builder
U.S. Army

U.S. Navy

Veterans’ Administration

9. Major Bibliographical References

Bibliography

(Cite the books, articles and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS):

[ 1 preliminary determination of individuat listing (36 CFR 67) has been
requested

[ ] previously listed in the National Register

[X] previously determined eligible by the National Register

[ 1designated a National Historic Landmark

[ 1recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey

#

[ 1 recorded by Historic American Engineering Record

#

Primary location of additional data:

[X] State Historic Preservation Office
[X] Other State Agency

[X ] Federal Agency

[X] Local Government

[ 1 University

[ ] Other

Name of repository:

Colorado Historical Society

National Archives

Colorado Department of Corrections

Denver Public Library

USDA Soil Conservation Service




Fort Lyon Bent County, Colorado

Name of Property County/State

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property _ 327
UTM References

(Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet.)

1. 13 662929 4216691 (NAD27)
Zone Easting Northing
2. 13 664384 4216732
Zone Easting Northing
3. 13 664042 4215906
Zone Easting Northing
4, 13 664403 4215738
Zone  Easting Northing [X] See continuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Description

(Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)

Boundary Justification

(Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet.)

11. Form Prepared By

name/title Kathy Lingo, Anne Bond, Dulaney Barclay

organization_Architecture 2000 P.C. with Anne Bond and RMC Consultants date July 24, 2003
street & number 5031 S. Ulster Suite 325 telephone_303-290-9930
city or town_Denver state CO zip code 80237

Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:

Continuation Sheets Photographs
Representative black and white photographs of the
Maps property.
A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the
property's location. Additional ltems
A Sketch map for historic districts and properties (Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional
having large acreage or numerous resources. items)
Property Owner

(Complete this item at the request of SHPO or FPQO.)

name see continuation sheet

street & number telephone

city or town state zip code

Pa{)ervyork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for anJplications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate properties for listingor
determine eligibility for listing, to list rogemes, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is required to obtain a benefit in accordance with the National Historic
Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C. 470 et seq.

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to aver_agg 18.1 hours per response including time for reviewing instructions, gathering and

maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect of this form to the Chief, Administrative Services

\[/)st;]qn,t atlgrglzgg{)kSSemce, .0. Box 37127, Washington, DC 20013-7127; and the Office of Management and Budget, Paperwork Reductions Projects (1024-0018),
ashington, .
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OTHER NAMES (cont.)

Fort Lyon V.A. Medical Center; Fort Lyon Correctional Facility

DESCRIPTION

Fort Lyon Overall Site Description

Fort Lyon is located in Bent County in the Arkansas River valley of southeastern Colorado, approximately seven
miles east of the town of Las Animas. The current site is owned by the State of Colorado Department of
Corrections (CDOC) and the National Cemetery Administration. In 2002, 512 acres were transferred from the
Veterans’ Administration (VA) to CDOC. The historic district in this nomination consists of 327 acres.

The area around Fort Lyon is flat and primarily agricultural. The elevation is approximately 3,800 feet above sea
level.

Fort Lyon is located along the historic Santa Fe Trail, at a location where historically the Arkansas River had a
pronounced bend. Due to the subsequent construction of the John Martin dam, dike, and reservoir, the visual
relationship of the Fort to the river has been lost. However the dike does bend around the site in a configuration
reminiscent of the historic river bend.

The entire site extends approximately 2-1/2 miles from north to south, and approximately one mile from east to
west at the developed area. The property is irregularly shaped, bounded to the west by Bent County Road 15
(Fort Lyon Road) and to the north by Bent County Road HH. The southern portion of the site contains most of
the buildings. It is accessed by the tree-lined “Gate Road” that leads southeast from the Main Gate to the
developed area. This part of the complex is surrounded to the west, east and south by a raised Army Corps of
Engineers dike that separates the site from the John Martin Reservoir, a dammed section of the Arkansas River.
The south property line extends beyond the dike to a location along the historic riverbank. North and east of the
site 1s the historic Fort Lyon cemetery, which is an active federally owned property. The developed portion of the
cemetery is not included in this nomination.

Key organizing elements of the site are the central Parade Ground, the Gate Road, Northeast (or Cemetery) Road,
and the Arkansas River.

The proposed Fort Lyon historic district is a 327 acre parcel bounded on the north by Bent County Road HH, on
the west by Bent County Road 15 north of West Farm Road, and Gate Road, First Street, and the Perimeter Road
south of West Farm Road. The district is bounded on the east by the Fort Lyon cemetery, Northeast Road, the
Perimeter Road, and the western fence around the lagoon. It is bounded on the south by West Farm Road and the
Perimeter Road.

Character-defining features of the historic district as a whole are:

Main Entrance Utility Area
Parade Ground Wastewater Treatment Area
Officers’ Row Recreational Facilities
Medical and Administrative Buildings on West Farm
Parade Ground Road System
Residential Areas Agricultural and Irrigation Components

Buildings 17, 19, 24, 121, 123, and 201
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Figure 1. Fort Lyon in 2003 as the Fort Lyon Correctional Facility and the Fort Lyon National
Military Cemetery.
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The nominated district is overall in good condition. The site as a whole has integrity of location, design,
materials, association, and workmanship. Integrity of setting and feeling are compromised by the
noncontributing dike. Integrity of setting and feeling are compromised at Officers’ Row by the security fence.

Evolution of Fort Lyon

Site development at Fort Lyon can best be described in terms of its evolution from an Army outpost, to a Navy
tuberculosis treatment center, to a Veterans” Administration (VA) neuro-psychiatric (N-P) center, and finally to
its current use as a State correctional facility for men with psychiatric needs. With respect to integrity, the Fort
is a single evolutionary complex rather than three separate complexes related to discrete periods of ownership
and use. What remains reflects the continued adaptation of the facility for its changing mission.

Most buildings and structures were modified over their many years of occupancy to accommodate new uses and
technology, and as part of the ongoing maintenance of the facility. Limited numbers of resources contribute
specifically to the army and navy periods of significance (see Figs. 19 and 21).

Site Development during the Army Period (1868 — 1888)

The Army fort, active from 1868 through 1888, was laid out as a typical late nineteenth-century western military
fort. It had a central Parade Ground surrounded by Officers’ Row on the north, Company Quarters on the east
and west, and the Headquarters building to the south. This basic arrangement set the stage for all further
development at Fort Lyon, to the present day. The Parade Ground and Officers’ Row still exist. Subsequently,
various other buildings were built or demolished around the Parade Ground perimeter, but it has always remained
the ceremonial heart of the complex. The Officers’ quarters have always remained the residences for key staff.

Beyond the Parade Ground to the south, the Army built the Quartermaster and Commissary warehouses. These
two buildings still exist. Utility structures for the Shops, Granary, Corrals, Bakery, and Coal Shed were built
further south of the warehouses, in a radial layout. While these buildings no longer exist, the basic concept of the
south area as a support and livestock area persisted through the Navy period, when a substantial dairy complex
developed in this location.

Beyond the Parade Ground to the east, the Army fort included numerous Laundress Quarters, laid out in a
somewhat radial fashion near the overflow banks of the Arkansas River. While these small habitations were not
retained by the Navy, the eastern edge of the complex has remained a Utility area throughout the periods of the
Navy, the VA, and the CDOC today.

To the northeast of the Officers’ Quarters, the Army constructed its hospital. The Navy re-used this building as
an early hospital, subsequently enlarging it for use as the Men’s Infirmary. The VA again modified the building
for use as a Fire Station and Recreation hall. The building still stands today.

Reports of the appearance of the Fort during Army days describe it as a windswept, dusty, and dreary place. The
Army post was closed in 1888, and the property remained in the hands of a caretaker until the beginning of the
Navy period in 1906. During this time the property reportedly fell into disrepair and was reportedly looted
repeatedly.
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Figure 2. Fort Lyon in December 1883 during the period in which the facility functioned as an army
post.
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Site Development during the Navy Period (1907 — 1922)

During the Navy period, the direction was established for all of the subsequent major site developments at Fort
Lyon. In response to the Navy’s need for a tuberculosis treatment facility, extensive site development took place
between 1907 and 1911, and again between 1917 and 1922.

Tuberculosis treatment at the time relied heavily on exposure to fresh air and sunshine. Southeast Colorado
could offer both, and thus the site was selected as a Navy tuberculosis treatment facility.

Central to tuberculosis treatment at Fort Lyon was the concept of a self-sufficient facility growing its own crops
and raising its own livestock for meat and dairy products. Patients who were sufficiently strong to work in the
fields did so. During the Navy’s tenure on-site, farms were developed to the west, extensive dairy operations
were developed to the west and south, a nursery and orchard were planted north of the residential areas, and the
land between the nursery and the north property line was used for pasturage. An extensive system of irrigation
ditches was built. The dairy operation, nursery, and orchard are no longer extant, but much of the irrigation
ditch system is still operational. The land west of the Gate Road is still predominantly agricultural, and many of
the Navy stables, barns, and shed still exist.

An added benefit to planting the land was dust reduction. Dust storms were detrimental to the treatment of
tuberculosis. The Navy carried this one step further and landscaped the property with the distinctive rows of
Chinese elms that still outline the Gate Road and the Parade Ground today. The Navy also planted other shrubs,
grasses, and plants around the buildings to keep the dust down and curtail erosion. Much of this landscaping
remains today.

The cemetery to the northeast of the property originated during the Navy period, along with “Cemetery Road,” or
“Northeast Road,” leading from the central complex to the National Cemetery. The cemetery property was not
transferred to the State of Colorado and remains under federal ownership.

The Navy retained the Parade Ground with its central flagpole, modifying the flagpole to include a ship’s mast.
The Officers’ Quarters remained, as did the two south warehouses, and the Army hospital. Everything else that
the Army built appears to have been torn down.

The Navy developed Fort Lyon into the major medical facility that it remained for many years. Large medical
and administrative buildings were built on the east, west, and south sides of the Parade Ground, including at least
16 “lean-tos” for patient care. Of all the medical buildings the Navy built on the Parade Ground, only one,
Building 401, still remains. However, the VA continued the concept of surrounding the Parade Ground with
major medical and administrative buildings.

The Navy numbered all of the buildings, and named or numbered the streets in the central complex. First,
Second, Third, and Fourth Streets run north and south. A, B, C, D, and E Streets run east and west. The Navy’s
nomenclature and numbering system are still in use today.

Modest staff residences along D and E Streets (and along the streets which were later named G and F), as well as
along Northeast Road, were built by the Navy and still remain today. While the houses have been substantially
remodeled, and many have been removed, these residential areas still retain the site planning concept initiated
during the Navy period.
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Figure 3. Fort Lyon in June 1921 during the period in which the facility functioned as a navy hospital.
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Figure 4. Fort Lyon Naval Sanitorium in 1908. (Source: Western History/Genealogy Department,
Denver Public Library)

Figure 5. Fort Lyon Naval Sanitorium in 1909. (Source: Western History/Genealogy Department,
Denver Public Library)

Figure 6. Fort Lyon circa 1908. (Source: Stephen H. Hart Library, Colorado Historical Society)
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The Navy built outdoor recreational facilities for staff and patients, including tennis courts, handball courts, a
swimming pool and a baseball field. This area remained an outdoor recreation area throughout the VA period,
although most of the specific facilities were slightly relocated or remodeled.

The utility area was developed by the Navy along the overflow banks of the Arkansas River, at the east edge of
the central complex. The utility area included the boiler building, garage, and two storage and shop buildings
that still exist today. The Navy utility area also included a laundry and disinfecting building which were replaced
by a newer VA laundry.

In 1922 the Navy left the site and the Veterans’ Bureau, soon renamed the Veterans’ Administration (VA) took
over operations.

Site Development during the Early VA Period (1922 — 1956)

As tuberculosis cases declined and were treated elsewhere, the mission of Fort Lyon changed to treatment of
neuro-psychiatric (N-P) veterans from all branches of service under the VA’s management. As the site’s medical
mission evolved, so did its physical facilities. During the VA period of operation, the central portion of the
facility around the Parade Ground changed drastically and developed the architectural character that it exhibits
today.

During the early years of the VA’s stewardship of the site, it remained a tuberculosis care facility, and most of
the Navy’s buildings were retained for their originally intended residential and medical uses. By the early 1930s,
the site was designated as a residential care facility for veterans with neuro-psychiatric needs.

Between 1929 and 1945, the VA removed the Navy lean-tos on the east and southwest sides of the Parade
Ground, and the Army Administration Building on the south side. These were replaced with Buildings 3, 4, 5, 6,
7, and 8, which were modeled on VA nationwide prototype floor plans for this purpose. Buildings 3 through 8
are two, three, or four-story Georgian Colonial buildings of red brick with classical detailing. This significantly
changed the character and scale of the Parade Ground. The Army’s Officers’ Row to the north, and the Navy’s
Building 401 to the west, remain on the Parade Ground.

Many modifications to the north and northeast residential areas took place during the VA period. Some of the
individual dwellings were moved to other locations on the site, or sold and moved off-site, or demolished. Most
of the other remaining dwellings were extensively remodeled with replacement exterior siding and replacement
windows. The extent of alteration varies by building and is discussed in the individual building descriptions
which follow.

A major change took place during the VA period when the dike was constructed. The Army Corps of Engineers
built the John Martin Reservoir in 1939. The corps built the dike at the same time, to keep the flood-stage
reservoir out of Fort Lyon. The dike encircles most of the developed portion of the site. This necessitated the
removal of several buildings, and dramatically changed the setting of many others around the east, south, and
west perimeter. The historic visual connection to the Arkansas River and surrounding agricultural properties was
discontinued.

Due to the construction of the dike, the dairy farm buildings south of “A” Street were removed, along with the
Engineering Storehouse complex at the east edge of the utility area. A large section of land at the southeast edge
of the site, historically a river overflow area, is an undeveloped wetlands area with a pumping station and
heliport.
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Figure 7. Fort Lyon as it appeared during its operation as a medical facility managed by the
Veterans’ Administration.
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Other less drastic site modifications during the VA period include construction of the Wastewater Treatment
Area at the southeast corner of the site, modifications to various recreational facilities including construction of
the baseball grandstand, and development of the northwest entry with a stone wall, guardhouse, sign, and stone
curbing.

Site Development after the Period of Significance (1957 — 2003)

Developments in the late VA period following the end of the period of significance (1956) have further affected
the site’s integrity. After 1984, seven residences on “E” Street, and all eleven residences on East “F” Street were
removed, resulting in a loss of integrity for those areas.

The Colorado Department of Corrections (CDOC) constructed its security fencing in 2002. A double chain-link
fence, 12 feet tall and topped with barbed wire, was constructed around CDOC’s “Main Building Complex.”
The double fence parallels the north side of the Parade Ground, separating Officers’ Row from the Parade
Ground. The fence is located west of Building 401; south of Buildings 17 and 19; and east of Buildings 4, 6,
121, and 123. A new single security fence surrounds the Utility Area, CDOC’s “Support Building Complex,”
and the Wastewater Treatment Area.

The security fence is visually transparent and, for the most part, it is located behind the major structures on the
Parade Ground. The location of the fence between the Parade Ground and Officers’ Row diminishes the
relationship between these two character-defining features, both visually and functionally, resulting in a loss of
integrity of both setting and feeling.

Resource Descriptions

The vast majority of the land and associated resources at Fort Lyon are owned by the State of Colorado and
administered by the CDOC. The land east of the Gate Road, north of the cemetery road, south of County Road
HH, and west of the developed portion of the Fort Lyon National Cemetery is owned by the Federal government
and administered by the National Cemetery Administration (NCA) in the Department of Veterans Affairs. The
buildings in the West Farm are privately owned. In the resource descriptions which follow, all resources are
owned by the State of Colorado unless noted as being privately owned or federally owned and managed by the
NCA.

In the individual resource descriptions which follow, the term “historic” refers to the overall periods of
significance, 1868-1889 and 1906-1956. Changes made during specific periods of occupancy are noted when
known. The full VA period of occupancy (1922-2000) is divided into the early VA period (1922-1956), that
portion within the overall period of significance, and the late VA period (1957-2000) after the end of the period
of significance in 1956. The term “non-historic” refers to that period after the end of the period of significance in
1956.

Main Entrance

Location: Northwest corner of district, at intersection of Bent County Roads HH and 15 with
the Gate Road.
Date of construction: 1941
Architect/Builder: VA
Photographs: 1-6
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Contributing Resources:

- Stone entrance wall, sign, 1941
and gate

- Stone curbing (part of road system)

381  Well/Pumphouse (Owned by NCA)

140  Guard House

Noncontributing Resources:
126  Kit Carson Chapel 1957
22 Pumphouse east on Road HH  Post 1956 (Owned by NCA)

The main entrance is located at the northwest corner of the district, at County Roads HH and 15. From the main
entrance, the district is accessed by the “Gate Road,” a southeasterly paved road formally lined with mature
Chinese Elm trees. Stone curbing lines the road for several yards from each side of the entry. The stone entrance
features and buildings were built in 1941 and date from the VA period.

The entrance features are constructed of tan native sandstone rectangular blocks. A 5-foot tall stone site wall
with stone coping extends to the east from the entrance. Two stone pillars flank a decorative iron grille gate at
the entrance. On the west side of the road is a stone monument sign, six feet tall with stone pillars on each side
topped with pyramidal concrete caps, and a central stone wall with metal signage panels identifying the State of
Colorado site. The two stone side pillars have inset metal panels with information about the former VA site.

Two small historic buildings are associated with the Main Entrance. They are small sandstone structures with
asphalt shingled side-facing gable roofs. The Guard House has wood sash windows with 6/6 divided light pattern
and stone sills and lintels. Another similar building a few yards farther east, the Pumphouse/Well Building 381,
has its openings boarded up.

The Kit Carson Chapel, south of the Main Entrance, is noncontributing. It was constructed in 1957, reportedly
using stones recycled from the original Army Post Surgeon residence. It was also reportedly built by the Navy.
The building was relocated to the main entrance by CDOC in 2002.

A noncontributing pumphouse, Building 22, located to the east along Road HH, was constructed by the VA after
1956.

Integrity

Character-defining features of the Main Entrance are:
Stone site walls
Stone curbing
Decorative iron gate
Stone monument sign with signage
Two stone shed buildings: Guard House and Well/Pumphouse

The contributing resources retain overall integrity of location, setting, design, materials, workmanship, feeling,
and association, dating from the VA period when they were built. Integrity of materials of the two buildings is
compromised by asphalt shingle roofing, and boarded-up windows at the Well/Pumphouse.
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Figure 8. Main entrance looking northwest from inside Fort Lyon circa 1925. A private
commercial establishment with a false front facade is visible outside the gate.
(Source: Stephen H. Hart Library, Colorado Historical Society)

Parade Ground

Location: Bounded by B Street, C Street, Second Street, and Third Street
Historic name: Parade Ground
Date of Construction: 1868
Architect/Builder: Army
Photographs: 7-9

Contributing Resource:
511 Flagpole

Noncontributing Resources:
- Gazebo shade structure over weightlifting equipment
- Security fence

The Parade Ground is a formal grassy open space at the center of the developed Fort Lyon complex. The Parade
Ground is approximately 450 feet square from curb to curb of the adjacent streets, and approximately 650 feet
square when measured from the face of the adjacent buildings. The space is bisected in both directions by
concrete sidewalks leading to a central flagpole on a ship’s mast. One additional concrete sidewalk crosses the
southeast quadrant of the space diagonally, connecting the entries to Buildings 5 and 8.

The open space is bounded on the north by “C” Street and the 1-1/2-story buildings of Officers’ Row. On the
west it is defined by Second Street and 2-story Building 401. To the south are “B” Street and the three-story
Buildings 3, 8, and 7. The space is bounded on the east by Third Street and three- and four-story Buildings 4 and
5. The Parade Ground space is oriented slightly off of true north, and the rest of the complex follows that
orientation.

Split-rail wooden fences that were added around the Parade Ground, after the period of significance, were
removed after 1981.
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The buildings on the east, west, and south sides of the Parade Ground are set back between 50 and 100 feet from
the streets, thus visually extending the open space. The Officers’ Row buildings on the north side are set back
about 30 feet from “C” Street.

There is a formal line of Chinese elm trees along the north side of “C” Street, a pattern that is repeated
throughout Fort Lyon along the Gate Road and other internal streets. Within the open space of the Parade
Ground there are some informally spaced elm and pine trees. Landscaping, including trees and grass, were added
by the Navy to reduce dust. Dust was detrimental to tuberculosis treatment.

The Parade Ground has remained at the center of the Fort Lyon complex ever since, throughout the occupations
of the Army, the Navy, the VA, and CDOC. However, the space has shifted to the east, and changed in size, due
to modifications by the Navy and the VA.

Parade Ground during the Army Period

The Parade Ground was established by the Army at the center of the original military post in 1868. Parade
grounds are a common design feature of 19"-century western military forts. The Fort Lyon officers’ quarters, or
Officers’ Row, was constructed along the north side of the Parade Ground. Typical of such forts, the
Commanding Officer’s Quarters (Building 504) was centered on the north side of the Parade Ground, with the
post Headquarters Building (removed by the VA) directly opposite and centered on the south side. Four
Company Quarters buildings (removed by the Navy) flanked the Parade Ground on the east and west. The
Parade Ground was reportedly not landscaped. There was a flagpole on axis with the Commanding Officer’s
Quarters and Headquarters, but not centrally located from north to south. There was an open space of
approximately 250 feet on both the east and west sides, between the Company Quarters and the Officers’ Row.
During the Army Period, the Parade Ground was approximately 600 feet square.

Parade Ground during the Navy Period

Navy construction effectively shifted the Parade Ground and changed the location of the central axis. The west
edge shifted to the east in 1917, when the Navy built Building 401 approximately 80 feet east of the old Army
Company Quarters, which had occupied the west side of the Parade Ground. The east edge appears to have
shifted to the east by approximately the same distance when the Navy built its numerous repetitive Ambulatory
Patient Lean-tos (removed by the VA) on the east side, between 1907 and 1911. This construction moved the
axis of symmetry of the Parade Ground from Building 504, the Commanding Officer’s Quarters, to Building 505.
When the axis shifted, so did the flagpole location, which the Navy replaced with a ship’s mast and flag. Streets,
sidewalks and landscaping were added by the Navy. During the Navy Period, the Parade Ground was
approximately 600 feet square when measured from the face of adjacent buildings.

Parade Ground during the VA Period

Extensive VA construction around the Parade Ground drastically changed the character and scale of the space.
The numerous small, closely-packed Navy Ambulatory Patient Lean-tos were removed from the east side and
replaced with the large, red-brick Georgian Colonial Buildings 4 and 5. The old Army Administration Building,
which had been re-used by the Navy, was removed from the south side and replaced with more large, red-brick
Georgian Colonials, Buildings 3, 7, and 8. Buildings 3, 5, 7, and 8 were set back from the Parade Ground,
effectively enlarging the space. The sidewalks, streets, and flagpole mast were not moved.
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Figure 9. Parade Ground circa 1925. The power house is producing heavy smoke in the
background. (Source: Stephen H. Hart Library, Colorado Historical Society)

Figure 10. The ship’s bell can be seen on the parade ground flag pole in this October 1929
view. The bandstand no longer remains. (Source: Stephen H. Hart Library, Colorado
Historical Society)
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Integrity

Non-historic intrusions include the security fence on the north side, non-historic Building 152, which is a
sensitively-designed chapel dating from the 1960s, and a non-historic gazebo structure that provides shade to
weight-lifting equipment used by inmates.

Character-defining features of the Parade Ground are:
Formal grassy open space without major buildings
Square plan
Bisecting sidewalks
Central flagpole on ship’s mast
Linear elm trees along perimeter
Edge-defining buildings: Officers’ Row, Building 401, Buildings 3, 4, 5, 7, and 8

The Parade Ground and its contributing elements are generally in good condition. The Parade Ground retains
overall integrity of location, design, materials, workmanship, feeling, and association. Integrity of setting is
compromised by the security fence that now separates the Parade Ground from Officers’ Row. There is integrity
of location dating from the Navy period. Integrity of feeling dates from the early VA period, as the size, scale,
character, and color of the adjacent VA buildings have so much impact on the feeling of the Parade Ground.

Officers’ Row

Location: North side of Parade Ground
Historic use: Officer Housing
Current use: Staff Housing
Architect/Builder: Army
Photographs: 10 -29

Contributing Resources:

501 Lieutenant’s Quarters 1868
502 Lieutenant’s Quarters 1868
503 Captain’s Quarters 1868
504 Commanding Officer’s Quarters 1868
505 Captain’s Quarters 1868
506 Lieutenant’s Quarters 1868
507 Lieutenant’s Quarters 1868

Non-Contributing Resource:
- Security Fence

Officers’ Row is a row of six 1-1/2-story and one 2-story residences located on the north side of the Parade
Ground. The buildings are aligned, and similar in appearance, creating a uniform effect. Officers’ Row extends
approximately 800 feet from east to west, from the Gate Road on the west to Building 508 on the east. The
Officers’ Row area is bounded on the south by “C” Street and on the north by “D” Street, a distance of
approximately 220 feet. The residences are spaced between 40 and 80 feet apart.

The area is landscaped with grass, elm trees, and a consistent pattern of shrub plantings. To the rear (north) side
is a paved alley with parking for the residents. There are concrete sidewalks between each building, connecting
“C” and “D” Streets. On the south side, between Officers’ Row and the Parade Ground, is the wire mesh and
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Figure 11. Officers’ Row as it appeared on a snowy day circa 1919-1920. (Source: Western
History/Genealogy Department, Denver Public Library)

Figure 12. Admiral Barbars [?] house at the end of a recently shoveled sidewalk on Officers’ Row
circa 1919-1920. (Source: Western History/Genealogy Department, Denver Public Library)

barbed wire double security fences. Split-rail wooden fences, constructed after the period of significance, were
removed after 1981.

The individual Bungalow style buildings are rectangular in plan and finished with a combination of white-painted
stucco and white clapboard siding installed over the original 2-foot-thick native sandstone construction. This
change took place after 1972 but before the 1981 determination of eligibility by the Keeper of the National
Register. The south sides, facing the Parade Ground, have continuous wood-framed screened porches. The
primary elevations face south. Roofs are side-facing gables, with gable-roofed dormers. Non-historic gray
asphalt shingles were installed prior to 1981. Windows are white-painted wood sash double-hung, mostly 6/6
divided light configurations. There are internal red brick chimneys near both ends of each building.

Buildings 502 through 507 are very similar. With the exception of 505, which is a single-family residence, and
501, which is a triplex, they are duplex residences. Originally, they measured approximately 50 feet long by 40
feet wide, 1-1/2 stories in height, with a 1-story kitchen at the rear.
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During the Navy period, continuous wood-framed screened porches were added on the south sides of all of these
buildings. This change was intended to maximize exposure to fresh air and sunshine for medical staff exposed to
tuberculosis.

The stone exteriors were covered over with a combination of wood clapboard siding and stucco during the late
VA period, between 1972 and 1981. At various times during the Navy and VA periods, rear additions of varying
configurations were constructed on all of the buildings. The rear additions are non-historic. Some consist of
second-story additions over the kitchens.

Many of the original wood sash double-hung 6/6 light windows remain, but many have been infilled or replaced
with windows of incompatible appearance. Historic stone lintels and sills have also been replaced in several
locations with non-historic painted wood lintels and sills, or concrete sills.

Building 501 is a triplex and somewhat larger than the others. This residence consists of 2-1/2 stories. It has
two-story wood framed screen porch additions on the south, east and west sides, dating from the Navy period.
The building was built of cut rectangular local sandstone blocks. Unlike the other Officers” Row residences, this
one has not been sided over. White painted wood clapboard siding at the gable ends appears to be original. It
has gable roofs with shed dormers and decorative white painted wood brackets at the eaves.

The interiors of the Officers’ Row residences originally had four rooms on the first floor, measuring 18 feet
square and 10 feet high, with a 7-foot wide hall. The second floor had four rooms, each 14 by 18 feet. The
kitchens, originally one story at the rear, varied in size from 21 feet by 32 feet to 16 feet by 17 feet.

Inside of the original portions of the houses, the partition locations are fairly intact. Finishes are all non-historic,
as are all kitchens and baths, which have been modernized. Living rooms and parlors all have historic fireplaces
with historic ceramic tile surrounds and hearths, painted wood mantels and columns, and decorative steel
fireplace grates. Many interior doors are historic panel doors with historic hardware.

Integrity

Exterior character-defining features of Officers’ Row are:
Straight row of seven residences on Parade Ground
Lawns and consistent landscaping of elms, pines, and low shrubs
Sidewalks
Side-facing gable roofs with dormers
Continuous wood-framed screened porches on south side
Wood sash double-hung divided light windows
Red brick chimneys

Interior character-defining features of Officers’ Row are:
Entry hall with living room and parlor
Fireplaces with ceramic tile surrounds and hearths, painted wood mantels and columns, and decorative
steel fireplace grates

The Officer’s Row buildings are in fair condition, with severe cracking in the non-historic stucco and
deterioration of the non-historic wood siding. They retain overall integrity of location, design, association, and
feeling. Integrity of design dates from the Navy period, not the Army period, due to the addition of the prominent
screened porches. Integrity of setting is compromised by the security fence installed in front of the houses in
2002. Integrity of materials and workmanship are compromised on all but Bulldlng 501 due to the addition of
non-historic wood siding and stucco during the late VA period.
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Building 3: Theater and Recreation

Location: Between Buildings 4 and 8, southeast corner of Parade Ground
Historic name: Theater and Recreation
Historic use: Auditorium, lounge, post office
Current:  Auditorium / Canteen
Date of construction: 1937
Architect/Builder: VA
Photographs: 30 - 37

Building 3 is located at the southeast corner of the Parade Ground. It is approximately 150 feet west of
Building 4, 50 feet west of Building 152, and 90 feet east of Building 8. Building 3 is set back about 100 feet
from the Parade Ground.

The building consists of three full stories plus a basement level that is mostly above grade. It is rectangular in
plan, with taller pavilions at the north and south ends. The primary exterior material is red brick with projecting
brick corner quoins and stone belt course. The brick walls at the basement level have a pattern of one recessed
course every fifth course. The structural system is concrete. The primary roof is a flat roof with a parapet,
projecting wood cornice, and stone coping. A tall pavilion at the north end has a hip roof with red clay tile
shingles installed in 2001, and a projecting wood cornice. The primary elevation faces north. There is a two-
story entrance portico on the north side, with a gable pediment supported by painted wood Doric style columns.
The architectural style is Georgian Colonial with simple eave and cornice treatment, and Classical detailing at the
entrance portico.

Building 3 is connected at the lower level to Buildings 4, 8, and 152 with a flat-roofed brick wing featuring a
stone belt course.

The main north-south wing of the building is approximately 140 feet long from north to south, and 38 feet wide.
The north lobby pavilion is 65 feet wide from east to west and 30 feet from north to south. At the south end,
containing the stage, there are symmetrical bays on both the east and west sides that project about 10 feet from
the face of the building.

The fenestration at the auditorium space consists of five 16-foot-tall arched historic monumental windows at both
the east and west elevations. The openings have fan lights at the top and original wood sash divided light
windows below. There are brick arches above the windows, and stone sills with inset brick panels below. At
both ends of the rows of monumental windows, there is an arched-top, brick inset panel of the same size and
shape as the monumental windows.

Fenestration at the rest of the building consists of simple punched openings with flush brick jack arches above
and projecting stone sills at the upper levels. Basement windows have stone sills, and no expressed lintels.
Historic divided-light windows were replaced with double-hung windows before 1981.

The north entrance to the main level is reached by a semicircular sidewalk leading from the Parade Ground to a
monumental concrete exterior stair rising seven feet to the entrance portico. The portico is covered by a gable-
roofed pediment supported by four white-painted wood Doric columns, with two more at the face of the building.
The pediment has a simple wooden entablature and white-painted wood at the gable end. A historic fan light in
the face of the pediment was filled in with painted wood prior to 1981. Three historic monumental entrance
doors at the main level have been replaced with non-historic doors, but an upper-level historic wood sash
divided-light window with transom light and decorative iron balcony still exists.
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The interior auditorium and stage spaces are largely intact. The auditorium is 42 feet wide by 90 feet long, with
fixed wood seats. The stage, at the south end, is 38 feet wide by 20 feet deep and features a historic hardwood
stage floor, stage lighting and stage curtains. There is a pipe organ.

There is an 8-foot-deep, full-width balcony at the north end of the auditorium, with a projection booth. The
balcony and its upper lobby are accessed by a winding staircase and an elevator.

The auditorium space reaches a maximum interior height of 25 feet. The northern half of the floor slopes down
toward the stage. Interior wall and ceiling finishes are plaster, with decorative attached fluted column detailing
between the monumental windows. The ceiling is flat, but steps down towards the stage. There are decorative
painted aluminum mechanical grilles near the base of the stage, with arched tops. There are six large decorative
historic pendant light fixtures.

On the lower level, the historic metal post office boxes and wood transaction window with counter are largely
intact but no longer used.

Integrity

Character-defining features of Building 3
Southeast corner of Parade Ground
Rectangular Plan
Red brick exterior walls with corner brick quoins
Flat parapet roof with hip-roofed entry pavilion
Two-story entrance portico and pediment with Doric columns
Georgian Colonial style with Classical detailing
Large arched window openings
Interior auditorium, stage, and balcony
Interior post office

Building 3 is in good condition. It retains overall integrity of location, setting, design, materials, workmanship,
feeling, and association. This building is entirely within the security fence and its relationship with the adjacent
administrative and medical buildings built by the VA is intact. The auditorium and post office are the only
character-defining interior spaces.

Building 4: Acute Treatment

Location: South of Building 4, southeast corner of Parade Ground
Historic name: Hospital, Acute Treatment
Historic use: Acute Treatment
Current: Inmate Housing
Date of construction: 1929
Architect/Builder: VA
Photographs: 38 - 44

Associated noncontributing resources:
152 Chapel VA 1961
Smoking Shed CDOC 2003
Photographs: 45 -47
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Building 4 is located 70 feet south of Building 5, at the southeast corner of the Parade Ground. The primary
elevation faces west. The building is set back 150 feet from the Parade Ground. The building consists of two full
stories plus a basement level that is mostly above grade. It is H-shaped in plan, with additional small projecting
bays at the center on both the east and west elevations. The foundation is brick. The primary exterior material is
red brick with projecting brick corner quoins and a stone belt course. The brick walls at the basement level have a
pattern of one recessed course every fifth course. The primary roof shape is intersecting gables, with red clay tile
shingles installed in 2001. The architectural style is Georgian Colonial with simple eave and cornice treatment.
The detailing on this building is similar to Building 6.

Building 4 was constructed as one of the VA’s first medical buildings at Fort Lyon. The building is connected at
the lower level to Buildings 5, 3, and 152 with a flat-roofed brick wing with a stone belt course.

The main north-south wing of the building is approximately 200 feet long from north to south, and 50 feet wide.
The symmetrical end wings are about 160 feet long from east to west, and 40 feet wide.

The fenestration consists of pairs of simple punched openings with flush brick soldier course lintels and
projecting stone sills. Historic divided-light windows have been replaced since 1981 with non-historic double-
hung windows. Projecting bays with gables have windows with brick jack arches and terra cotta keystones. The
projecting bays at both ends of the east fagade had screened porches on the upper floors, as this building was
built when the VA facility was treating tuberculosis patients with fresh air and sunshine. These openings have
been infilled with aluminum windows and spandrel panels. Central projecting bays on the east and west sides
originally had arched window openings near the peak of the gable, but these have been filled in with louvers.

The historic classically-detailed entrance portico at the central projecting bay facing west has been replaced with
a flat-roofed brick vestibule addition with arched openings on the west and north sides. This modification took
place after 1981.

The interior of Building 4 has been extensively and repeatedly remodeled and it is no longer character-defining.

Figure 13. Building 4 of the navy hospital circa 1929. (Source: Stephen Hart Library, Colorado
Historical Society)
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Associated noncontributing resources:

Building 152 is a sensitively-designed, noncontributing one-story red brick chapel built in 1962. It is located
south of the brick wing that connects Buildings 5 and 4. Only its low-slope gable roof and white steeple are
visible from the Parade Ground.

A smoking shed built by CDOC in 2003 is located southeast of 152. It is a hip-roofed, screened structure with
wood siding.

Integrity

Character-defining features of Building 4
Southeast corner of Parade Ground
Tee-shaped plan
Three stories
Red brick exterior walls with corner brick quoins
Intersecting gable roofs
Paired punched window openings
Georgian Colonial style

Building 4 is in good condition. It retains overall integrity of location, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling,
and association on the exterior. Integrity of design is compromised by the non-historic entrance vestibule on the
west side, and enclosure of the screened porches. This building is entirely within the security fence and its
relationship with the adjacent administrative and medical buildings built by the VA is intact.

Building 5: Administration and Clinic

Location: East side of Parade Ground
Historic name: Main Building, Administration and Clinic
Historic use: Hospital administration and clinic
Current: Inmate Housing Unit/Medical Clinic
Date of construction: 1935
Architect/Builder: VA
Photographs: 48 - 53

Building 5 is located at the east end of the Parade Ground on Third Street. Its main entrance is on axis with the
flagpole. The building consists of three full stories, a full basement, with two partial upper floors in the taller
center bay. It is H-shaped in plan and the primary elevation faces west. The central entry has a three-story
portico supported by four fluted Ionic terra cotta columns. The foundation is sandstone and the primary exterior
material is red brick with corner stone quoins. The primary roof shapes are intersecting gables covered with red
clay tile shingles. The higher center bay has a hip roof with elliptical arched dormers. Single-story wings, added
later, have flat parapet roofs. The architectural style is Georgian Colonial, with Classical eave and cornice
treatment. The structural system is reinforced concrete. The building is in good condition.

Building 5 was constructed as the main Administration building for the Fort Lyon VA Hospital, with secondary
use as a medical clinic. Its location on the Parade Ground, with a double row of mature, equally spaced elm trees
between Third Street and the building, contribute to the very formal setting. The main entry to Building 5 is on
axis with the ship’s mast and flagpole near the middle of the Parade Ground. The building is connected at the
first floor to Buildings 4 and 6 with single-story brick wings.
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The main building plan is an elongated H-shape, with a later (1945) one-story addition to the north. The building
is approximately 320 feet long from north to south. The main wing is approximately 50 feet wide from east to
west, with projecting wings 100 feet long at the rear and 20 feet long at the front.

The original building is symmetrical in plan, with five bays on the east and west sides. There is one projecting
bay at each end of the east and west clevations, a three-story central entry portico on the west side, and a central
projecting bay on the east side. The center bay extends 1-1/2 stories higher than the rest of the building. The
west (primary) elevation has three stories, plus the taller central bay. Some basement windows are visible on this
side. On the east side, the exterior finished grade slopes down from north to south, and more of basement level is
above grade.

The foundation is cream-colored rectangular-cut native sandstone with a water table at the first floor elevation.
The primary exterior material is red brick with common bond coursing, and stone corner quoins at all exterior
corners. There is a continuous terra cotta frieze and cornice at the eave line. The terra cotta cornice detailing
continues around the gables.

The typical windows are double-hung punched openings, evenly spaced on each floor. The original windows
were divided light, 5/3, but they have been replaced with single light, double-hung windows. The original
windows had a welded iron decorative grille over the lower operable half of the window. The grilles have since
been removed. Window openings have a brick jack arch with a terra cotta keystone at the head, and a slightly
projecting terra cotta sill. Gable ends historically featured circular windows with brick surrounds and a terra-
cotta keystone at quarter points. The surrounds and keystones are still in existence, but the windows have been
removed and filled in.

Red clay tile shingles were added in 2001 following a hailstorm. These replacement shingles are similar to the
historic tile shingles.

The building interior has been extensively and repeatedly remodeled and it is no longer character-defining.

The remainder of this architectural description describes the building elevation by elevation, beginning with the
west elevation, and proceeding counterclockwise around the building.

The west elevation consists of the symmetrical five-bay original building, which has three stories and a basement,
and a five-story central entrance bay. There are two single-story, flat-roofed later additions. One is at the north
end of the building. The other is located at the rear of the south side and connects to Building 4.

The north wing, added in 19435, is flush with the west face of the original building at its northern end. The wing
is one story, with a flat parapet roof, and a full basement that is partially visible above grade. The wing is
rectangular in plan, approximately 122 feet from north to south and approximately 42 feet from east to west.
Twenty feet from the north end, there is a projecting bay that is 38 feet wide and projects 20 feet from the face of
the building. The west elevation of the north wing has three bays: the northernmost is the narrowest with two
windows on each floor; the projecting bay has three windows per floor; and the southern bay has six windows per
floor. Historic basement windows have been modified.

The north wing is constructed of materials similar to the original building: rectangular cut cream-colored
sandstone water table foundation and red common brick walls with stone quoined corners. Main floor windows
are double-hung evenly-spaced punched openings with brick jack arches, terra cotta keystones, and terra cotta
sills. Basement windows, which are replacements, are vertically aligned under each main floor window, with
slightly projecting stone lintels and sills. Some have security bars. The brick parapet roof has terra cotta coping.
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The west elevation of the original building has five bays and it is symmetrical about the center bay, which is the
main entry to the building. The center bay is five stories tall, two stories taller than the flanking side bays. This
bay is about 68 feet in length from north to south, and projects slightly from the face of the building. It has a red
tile hipped roof, a smaller terra cotta cornice at the eave, and three elliptical dormers. The terra cotta frieze and
cornice, located at the eave line of the rest of the original building, continues on this bay, but a fourth story rises
above it. The fifth story is located within the steeply pitched (9 in 12) hip roof, with natural light provided by
dormers.

The central entry is sheltered by a projecting three-story portico topped by a balcony at the fourth level. The
portico and balcony are supported by four terra cotta columns, tapered and fluted, with Ionic style capitals and
bases. The building’s characteristic terra cotta frieze, entablature, and cornice form the top of the portico. The
balcony has a terra cotta balustrade with siender turned balusters and four larger balusters, one above each of the
four Jonic entry columns.

A monumental concrete staircase rises four feet to the main entry, and extends the full 40-foot width of the
portico. A non-historic concrete accessibility ramp and non-historic metal handrails were added after 1981.
There are three monumental entrance openings into the building, located side-by-side in the center of the bay.
These historically had monumental wood doors with full glass lights plus transom lights and decorative
metalwork but this has all been replaced with modern storefront doors. The middle pair of doors has an elliptical
terra cotta arch and entablature. The two flanking pairs of doors have terra cotta pediments and entablatures.
Windows in the center bay of the west elevation are typical of the rest of the building on the first three floors.
There are five west-facing windows per floor on the second and third floors of this bay, plus one west-facing
window on each side of the main entry doors. Each side of the projecting entry bay has an additional two
windows per floor. There are decorative terra cotta inset panels above the three center west-facing windows of
the second floor. The rhythm of window spacing is maintained on the fourth floor, but with three sets of
narrower, paired windows at the center balcony. At the fifth, or attic level, there are three symmetrical dormers,
with elliptical arched roofs clad with metal roofing.

The central bay of Building 5’s west elevation is flanked by a symmetrical arrangement. The side wings are three
stories tall. There is one projecting bay located about four feet from each end of the building. The bay projects
about twenty feet from the face of the building. The materials and detailing are typical of the rest of the building.
Windows are evenly spaced, with three per floor at each of the two projecting bays, and three per floor at each of
the two bays of the main building wall. Each side of each projecting bay has an additional two windows per
floor.

The side wings have intersecting gable roofs, with a continuous terra cotta frieze and cornice at the eave line.
The projecting bays end in a brick-faced gable, with terra cotta crown molding around the gable. Centered in
each gable is a circular filled-in window opening with terra cotta trim. Historically, these windows were glazed.

The south side of Building 5 is a long three-story elevation with typical materials and detailing. It has punched
window openings and one slightly projecting bay near the west side. As the grade slopes down to the east, more
of the stone foundation is visible. The projecting bay has a gable end at the roof, with a circular window opening
that has been filled in. Fenestration at the projecting bay consists of one set of paired windows centered on the
bay, with individual windows flanking the pair, at each floor. Basement window openings have been filled in.
The western half of the south elevation has single, evenly spaced windows. The eastern half of the south
elevation has three sets of paired windows per floor. At the easternmost end of this elevation, the last bay of
windows features one wider opening with two narrow windows flanking a wider one, and recessed brick
spandrels on each floor. At the east end of the south elevation, there is a gable-roofed brick corridor connection
to Building 4.
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The grade is lower at the east side, so the east elevation is a full four stories, plus the central bay with two
additional stories. The east elevation of the original building has a projecting center bay, two long side wings,
and two projecting gable-roofed bays at the ends. The east elevation of the one-story 1945 north addition is the
same as its west elevation. Detailing, materials, and windows of the original building are typical of the rest of the
building. The projecting bays at the north and south ends feature the wider window openings with three windows
each, a center window and two narrow side windows, with inset brick spandrels on each floor. Side elevations of
both projecting bays on the east side are similar to the south elevation of the building.

Building 5 connects to Building 6 at both the center bay, and the north side of the projecting south bay. The
connections consist of narrow, two-story, gable-roofed brick buildings with punched windows and stone sills.
The connections were reportedly built in 1935, when the building was built, but they are much simpler and lack
the Classical detailing of the main building.

The north elevation includes the north side of the northern projecting wing on the east side of the original
building, and the north side of the 1945 addition. The north side of the northern projecting wing has typical
materials, detailing, window placement and treatment, as the rest of the building. The north side of the 1945
addition is typical of the rest of the addition, with a flat roof and parapet, a small gable-roofed entrance portico,
concrete exterior stairs, and a stone site wall at the exterior stairs.

Integrity

Character-defining features of Building 5:
Location on east end of Parade Ground
H-shaped plan
Three stories with five-story center bay
Three-story portico with Ionic columns
Red brick exterior walls with corner stone quoins
Sandstone foundation
Intersecting gable roofs
Georgian Colonial style with Classical eave and cornice treatment

Building 5 is in good condition. It retains overall integrity of location, design, setting, materials, workmanship,
feeling, and association on the exterior. This building is entirely within the security fence and its relationship
with the Parade Ground and the adjacent administrative and medical buildings built by the VA is intact.

Building 6: Kitchen and Dining Room

Location: East of Building 5
Historic name: Kitchen and dining room
Historic use: Kitchen and dining room
Current: Kitchen and dining room
Date of construction: 1935
Architect/Builder: VA
Photographs: 54 - 56

Building 6 is located 70 feet east of Building 5. The building consists of three full stories. It is tee-shaped in
plan. The foundation is stone and the primary exterior material is red brick with projecting brick corner quoins
and a stone belt course.. The primary roof shape is gabled, with red clay tile shingles installed in 2001 to
replicate the historic shingles. There is a flat parapet roof on the east projecting wing, with a projecting terra
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cotta cornice and terra cotta coping. The architectural style is Georgian Colonial with simple eave and cornice
treatment. The detailing on this building is simpler and more utilitarian than Building 5.

Building 6 was constructed as the VA Hospital’s main kitchen and dining room, and it retains that use today.

The building is connected at the first floor to Building 5 with a two-story brick wing with a gable roof. There is a
non-historic flat-roofed brick addition on the south side that is virtually unadorned except for the stone belt
course.

The main north-south wing of the building is approximately 140 feet long from north to south, and 70 feet wide.
The east wing is about 60 feet long from east to west and 50 feet wide.

The fenestration consists of simple punched openings on the first and third floors, and large arched openings on
the second floor.

The typical first- and third-floor windows are double-hung punched openings, evenly spaced on each floor. The
original windows were divided light of varying patterns but prior to 1981 they were replaced with single light,
double-hung windows. First- and third-floor window openings have a brick jack arch with a terra cotta keystone
at the head of third-floor windows only. Sills are stone at the first floor and terra-cotta at the third floor. Gable
ends historically featured fan windows with brick arches and terra cotta keystones.

Second-floor windows are large openings with arched tops. The arches are slightly projecting brick, with terra
cotta keystones. Sills are terra cotta, with inset decorative brick spandrel panels below the sills. Historically,
these windows had fanlights and divided light windows below. These were all removed prior to 1981. At
various locations, different infill materials have been used, including brick, solid painted panels, or standard
double-hung or slider windows with solid painted panels in place of the fanlights.

The building interior has been extensively and repeatedly remodeled and it is no longer character-defining.
Integrity

Character-defining features of Building 6
Location east of Building 5
Tee-shaped plan
Three stories
Red brick exterior walls with corner brick quoins
Gable roof
Second-floor arched window openings
Georgian Colonial style

Building 6 is in good condition. It retains overall integrity of location, setting, design, materials, workmanship,
feeling, and association on the exterior. Integrity of design, materials and workmanship is compromised by the
various infill materials used at the second-floor arched window openings. This building is entirely within the
security fence and its relationship with the adjacent administrative and medical buildings built by the VA is
mntact.
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Building 7: Continuing Treatment

Location: Southwest corner of Parade Ground
Historic name: Continuing Treatment
Historic use: Continuing Treatment for Neuro-Psychiatric patients
Current: Inmate Housing
Date of construction: 1937
Architect/Builder: VA
Photographs: 57 - 62

Building 7 is located 130 feet west of Building 8, at the southwest corner of the Parade Ground. It is set back 80
feet from the Parade Ground. The building consists of two full stories plus a basement level that is mostly above
grade. It is H-shaped in plan, with an additional projecting bay centered on the south side. The primary exterior
material is red brick with projecting brick corner quoins and a stone belt course. The brick walls at the basement
level have a pattern of one recessed course every fifth course. The primary roof shape is intersecting gables, with
painted wood cornice, and hips at the ends of the projecting wings. Roofing is red clay tile shingles, installed in
2001. The architectural style is Georgian Colonial with simple eave and cornice treatment. The building is very
similar to Building 8. The building is connected at the lower level to Building 8 with a flat-roofed brick wing
with a stone belt course.

The main east-west wing of the building is approximately 200 feet long from north to south, and 50 feet wide.
The symmetrical end wings are about 160 feet long from east to west, and 40 feet wide.

The fenestration consists of pairs of simple punched openings with brick jack arch lintels and projecting stone
sills. Historic divided-light windows have been replaced with non-historic double-hung windows. The projecting
bays at both ends had screened porches on the upper floors. The upper floor of the former porch has arched
openings with brick arches and terra cotta keystones. The porch openings have been infilled with aluminum
windows and aluminum panels. Central projecting bays on the east and west elevations originally had arched
window openings near the peak of the gable, but these have been filled in.

The main entrance on the north side has applied painted wood decorative treatment featuring a pediment and
attached columns at both sides of the door. Original entry doors have been replaced aluminum doors.

The interior of Building 7 has been extensively and repeatedly remodeled and it is no longer character-defining.
Integrity

Character-defining features of Building 7
Location on southwest corner of Parade Ground
H-shaped plan
Three stories
Red brick exterior walls with corner brick quoins
Intersecting gable roofs with hipped ends at side wings
Paired punched window openings
Arched openings at ends of side wings
Georgian Colonial style

Building 7 is in good condition. It retains overall integrity of location, setting, design, materials, workmanship,
feeling, and association on the exterior. Integrity of design, materials and workmanship is compromised by the
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infilled arched openings. This building is within the main security fence. A small chain-link fence separating this
building from the Parade Ground does not impact the visual connection between the two.

Building 8: N-P Infirmary

Location: South side of Parade Ground between Buildings 3 and 7
Historic name: N-P Infirmary
Historic use: Infirmary for Neuro-Psychiatric patients
Current: Inmate Housing
Date of construction: 1945
Architect/Builder: VA
Photographs: 63 - 70

Building 8 is located 90 feet west of Building 3, and 100 feet east of Building 7. It is centered on the Parade
Ground central axis, at the south side. It is set back 80 feet from the Parade Ground. The building consists of
two full stories plus a basement level that is mostly above grade. It is H-shaped in plan, with an additional
projecting bay centered on the south side. The primary exterior material is red brick with projecting brick corner
quoins and a stone belt course.. The brick walls at the basement level have a pattern of one recessed course every
fifth course. The primary roof shape is intersecting gables, with painted wood cornice, and hips at the ends of the
projecting wings. Roofing is red tile clay tile shingles installed in 2001. The architectural style is Georgian
Colonial with simple eave and cornice treatment. This building is very similar to Building 7. The building is
connected at the lower level to Buildings 3 and 7 with a flat-roofed brick wing with a stone belt course.

The main east-west wing of the building is approximately 200 feet long from north to south, and 50 feet wide.
The symmetrical end wings are about 160 feet long from east to west, and 40 feet wide.

The fenestration consists of pairs of simple punched openings with brick jack arch lintels and projecting stone
sills. Historic divided-light windows have been replaced with non-historic double-hung windows. The projecting
bays at both ends had screened porches on the upper floors. The upper floor of the former porch has arched
openings with brick arches and terra cotta keystones. The porch openings have been infilled with aluminum
windows and aluminum panels. Central projecting bays on the east and west facades originally had arched
window openings near the peak of the gable, but these have been filled in.

The main entrance on the north side has applied painted wood decorative treatment featuring an arched pediment
and attached columns at both sides of the door. The main entry doors have been replaced with non-historic
aluminum doors.

Integrity

Character-defining features of Building 8
Location on central axis of Parade Ground
H-shaped plan
Three stories
Red brick exterior walls with corner brick quoins
Intersecting gable roofs with hipped ends at side wings
Paired punched window openings
Arched openings at ends of side wings
Georgian Colonial style
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Building 8 is in good condition. It retains overall integrity of location, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling,
and association. Integrity of design is compromised by the infilled arched openings. This building is within the
main security fence. There is a chain-link fence separating this building from the Parade Ground, but it is a
smaller fence that does not impact the visual connection with the Parade Ground. The interior of Building 8 has
been extensively and repeatedly remodeled and it is no longer character-defining.

Building 401

Location: West side of Parade Ground
Historic names: Navy: West Ward

VA: PMRS, Shop, and Gymnasium

Historic uses: Navy: Hospital building
VA:  Shop and gymnasium

Current: Master Control, Visitation, and Gymnasium
Date of Construction: 1917 — 1920
Architect/Builder: Navy
Photographs: 71 -75

Building 401 is located on the west side of the Parade Ground. The primary elevation faces east. The building is
rectangular in plan, with its long axis running north and south. It measures approximately 270 feet from north to
south and 50 feet from east to west. The building has a sandstone foundation parged with concrete, white painted
clapboard siding with brown painted wood trim, and a gray asphalt-shingled gable roof. There is a center
projecting two-story bay, with a front-facing gable roof. On both sides of the center projecting bay there are
long, tall single-story wings with high eaves and side-facing gable roof. A single-story wood-framed porch,
lower in height, wraps around the outside of the side wings. The porch ties into the sides of the projecting center
bay on both the east and west elevations. The porch has a non-original shed roof that becomes a hip roof where it
turns the corners. The architectural style is Colonial Revival, with Classical eave and cornice treatment. The
building is in fair condition.

The central entry has a one-story shed-roofed portico on the east side, supported by paired Doric style columns.
The portico has a central projecting bay with a pediment. On the east facade, the upper floor of the central bay
has three windows, paired double-hung, and decorative applied pediment lintels. The north and south elevations
of the central bay have irregularly-placed, non-historic windows on the upper floors.

On the west side, the central bay has a non-historic projecting gable-roofed porch roof flanked by one window
and one infilled opening. The upper floor of this element features four evenly-spaced aluminum windows with
flush wood trim.

The building’s clapboard siding does not appear in a 1919 photograph and may have been added when siding was
added to the Officers’ Row residences. Photographs indicate the siding was installed prior to 1981. The original
sandstone walls are still visible inside the building. Also visible inside is evidence of a previous wood structure
supporting a lower porch roof.

Original clerestory windows in the walls of the side wings have been covered over with siding except at the north
bay of the west side. However the clerestory windows are still visible throughout the interior. The original
windows of the screened porch are still in place, with non-historic aluminum storm windows added.

The building interior has been extensively and repeatedly remodeled and it is no longer character-defining. The
VA had a miniature golf course to the north of the building, which no longer exists.
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Integrity

Character-defining features of Building 401 are:
Location on east side of Parade Ground
Two-story central entry with gable roof
Shed roof entry portico on east side with paired Doric columns and central pediment
Pediments over second story openings in central bay
Tall one-story side wings with gable roof
Continuous shed roof porch around side wings

Building 401 is in fair condition. It retains overall integrity of location, design, association, workmanship, and
feeling on the exterior. Integrity of design, materials and workmanship is compromised by the non-historic.wood
siding. Integrity of setting is compromised by the removal of the associated Navy West Subsistence Building that
historically was connected to the west side of Building 401.

Figure 14. West Ward (Building 401) of the Fort Lyon navy hospital circa 1919-1920. (Source:
Western History/Genealogy Department, Denver Public Library)

Figure 15. West Ward (Building 401) circa 1922. (Source: Stephen Hart Library, Colorado Historical
Society)
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Navy Residential Area

Location:
Historic name:

North of Officers’ Row, on C, D, E, F, and G Streets and Northeast Road
As listed below

Historic use: Navy staff residences
Current: CDOC staff residences
Date of construction: As listed below
Architect/Builder: Navy
Photographs: 77 - 147
Contributing Resources:
“C” Street
508 Nurses’ Home #1 1918
“D” Street “Petty Officers’ Row”
302-303 Pharmacist Quarters 1918
304 — 308 Pharmacist Quarters 1907 - 1911
309 Single Living Quarters 1907 - 1911
310 Duplex Living Quarters 1921
“E” Street
323-324 Civilian Quarters 1908
“F” and “G” Streets Officers’ Ambulant Quarters
350 - 356 Single Living Quarters 1918
Northeast Road (“Cemetery Road”)
116 - 117 Single Living Quarters 1917
230 Single Living Quarters 1917
232 Single Living Quarters 1917
234 Duplex Living Quarters 1908
235 237 Single Living Quarters 1918
376 Civilian Quarters 1908
Associated Buildings and Structures
247 Personnel Garage 1936
359 Pumphouse 1918
363 Gas Meter House 1930
364 Gas Regulator House 1930
365 Personnel Garage 1930
366 Transformer House 1930
367 Pumphouse 1917
396 Pumphouse 1952
397 Pumphouse 1951
510 Reservoirs 1947
Noncontributing Resources:
249 Pumphouse date unknown
318-319 Civilian Quarters porches 1917
390 Water Tower 1990s
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The Navy Residences are located north of Officers’ Row, on D, E, F, and G Streets and Northeast Road. The
Nurses’ Home, building 508, is a large 2-story building on C Street at the east end of Officers’ Row. The other
residences are small 1-story or 1-1/2-story single-family or duplex homes, relatively evenly spaced with their
front facades aligned along tree-lined streets with sidewalks. They are set back 30 to 40 feet from the street.

D, E, F, and G Streets and Northeast Road have a quiet, modest residential character that is distinct from other
areas of Fort Lyon. While some of the houses maintain their original appearance, most have been substantially
modified over the years. Most of the houses are currently used as CDOC staff houses. A few are vacant or used
as office space for on-site contractors.

Building 508 and Petty Officers’ Row (“D” Street residences) were included in the 1981 determination of
eligibility. The other Navy residences were not included.

Building 508

Building 508, the Nurses’ Home, is located at the east end of Officers’ Row. It is aligned with the Officers’ Row
houses and compatible with them in size and scale. The Nurses’ Home is a two-story building, rectangular in
plan with two large projecting wings on the north side. It is constructed of tan-color, local sandstone blocks laid
up in ashlar fashion, with projecting gray mortar. There is an enclosed wood framed sun porch that is two-stories
tall on the south side, and one story on the east side. The roof is a side-facing asphalt-shingled gable with
intersecting gable roofs at the projecting rear wings. Gable siding and sun porch siding are white painted wood
lap siding. The porches have operable wood sash windows. Building 508 measures approximately 68 feet from
east to west, plus the 8-foot wide porch, and 36 feet from north to south, plus the 8-foot wide porch. There are
two projecting 2-story wings at the north side, both of sandstone construction. The eastern wing is 18 feet wide
and projects 24 feet from the building. The western wing is 26 feet wide by 36 feet long, and is attached to the
building with a narrow wood frame connection that was originally one story, and is now two-stories tall.

Windows are painted historic wood sash double-hung windows with 6/6 divided light pattern. A non-historic

exterior steel exit stair was added on the north side. A non-historic gable-roofed entrance vestibule with stone
pillars and site wall was added on the south side. A stone panel reads, “Nurses Home USN July 15, 1917 GH
Barber, Medical Director.” These additions were made when the building was converted to office use in 1985.

Figure 16. Nurses’ Home (Building 508) in circa 1925. (Source: Stephen
Hart Library, Colorado Historical Society)
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Building 508 is in fair condition. The exterior retains overall integrity of location, design, setting, materials,
workmanship, feeling, and association. Because this building does not face directly toward the Parade Ground,
the non-historic security fence does not constitute a loss of integrity of setting. During the Navy period, the
Nurses’ Home was directly north of the Convalescent Patient Quarters Lean-tos (Buildings 111, 112, and 113, all
no longer extant).

The interior of the building has been remodeled several times and is no longer character-defining.
“D” Street Residences: Petty Officers’ Row

The “D” Street residence group consists of nine modest single-family homes and lawns on the north side of the
street. Except for 306, they are all one story in height. The houses are set back evenly about forty feet from the
curb. The primary elevations face south to “D” Street and the rear of Officer’s Row. The south side of “D” Street
has a generous tree-lined open space approximately 70 feet wide, beyond which is an alley behind Officer’s Row.
“D” Street is lined with Chinese elms and has a detached concrete sidewalk. Building 320, the CPO Quarters,
was at the west end of “D” Street and has been demolished.

Buildings 302 and 303 are nearly identical, one-story cottages with sandstone foundations, white-painted wood
lap siding, and side-facing asphalt shingled gable roofs with exposed rafter tails. The buildings are rectangular in
plan with one rear projecting wing. Original screened porches on the south sides of the buildings have been
enclosed with siding and windows. Buildings 302 and 303 are in fair condition and have integrity of location,
design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and association.

Buildings 304, 305, 307, 308, and 309 are one-story wood framed rectangular buildings with one projecting bay
on the north side. They have sandstone foundations, non-historic replacement siding of various types and styles,
and asphalt-shingled hip roofs. Original screened porches still exist, but have been modified in most cases.
Windows and doors are non-historic replacements. These buildings are in fair condition and have integrity of
location, setting, feeling, and association. Integrity of design, workmanship, and materials are lost due to exterior
modifications in 1984.

Building 306 is a 1-1/2-story wood framed residence, rectangular in plan with one shed-roofed projecting bay on
the north side and a 3-sided screen porch on the south side. It has a sandstone foundation, non-historic
replacement siding, and an asphalt-shingled gable roof. Some of the windows are non-historic. Building 306 is in
fair condition and has integrity of location, setting, feeling, and association. Integrity of design, workmanship
and materials are compromised by exterior modifications.

Building 310 is a two-story wood framed residence, rectangular in plan. It has a concrete foundation, non-
historic Masonite replacement siding, and an asphalt-shingled gable roof. Some of the windows are non-historic,
but most are original 6/6 divided light, double-hung windows. Building 310 is in fair condition and has integrity
of location, setting, feeling, and association. Integrity of design, workmanship and materials are compromised by
exterior modifications.

The interior of the building has been remodeled several times and is no longer character-defining.

“E” Street Residences (Civilian Quarters)

The two remaining “E” Street residences, 323 and 324, are located on the north side of the street, facing south.
“E” Street is tree-lined with a detached concrete sidewalk. The houses have lawns. 323 and 324 are 1-1/2 story
wood-framed residences. They are rectangular in plan with one projecting bay with a half-hipped roof, originally
a screened porch, on the south side. They have sandstone foundations and an asphalt-shingled gable roof.
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Windows and replacement siding were installed in 1985 by the VA.

Buildings 323 and 324 are in fair condition and have integrity of location, feeling, and association. Integrity of
setting is lost due to the demolition of all of the other buildings on both sides of “E” Street. Integrity of
materials, design, and workmanship are compromised by replacement windows and siding. The interior of the
buildings have been remodeled several times and are no longer character-defining.

“E” Street during the Navy period had 8 cottages on the south side and 9 buildings on the north side. In addition
to 323 and 324, there were 321 Civilian Quarters and 322 Marine Barracks at the east end; cottages 325 and 326;
North Store House 327; residence 328; and the Nurses’ Infirmary, 329. None are extant.

On the south side of “E” Street, Buildings 313, 314, 315, 316, 317, 318, 319, and 320 were demolished, or sold
and moved off-site, after 1981. The screened porches from Buildings 318 and 319 still exist but are
noncontributing.

“F” and “G” Street Residences (Officers’ Ambulant Quarters)

The “F” and “G” Streets residence group consists of seven modest homes and lawns on the north side of “F”
Street and the south side of “G” Street. They are all one story in height and all face south toward “F” Street.
“F” Street is lined with Chinese elms and has a detached concrete sidewalk.

Buildings 350 to 356, are nearly identical, one-story residences with sandstone foundations, non-historic siding
and windows, and asphalt shingled hip roofs. The buildings are rectangular in plan with one front projecting
wing. The buildings are in fair condition and have integrity of location, association, and feeling. Integrity of
setting is compromised by the loss of two major buildings historically adjacent to, and associated with, Buildings
350 to 356-the Officers’ Infirmary to the north and the Nurses’ Infirmary to the south, Residence 357, very
similar to the others, no longer exists. Integrity of design, workmanship, and materials are compromised by the

Figure 17. Single living quarters on “F” Street adjacent to corn field. In this 1929 view to
the west, the tree-lined Gate Road crosses the scene in the background. (Source: Stephen
Hart Library, Colorado Historical Society)
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1985 exterior modifications. The interior of the building has been remodeled several times and is no longer
character-defining,

East “F” Street

The eleven East “F” Street residences, 203 to 213, were demolished or sold and moved off-site, after 1981.
They were not included within the limits of the historic district that was determined eligible in 1981.

Northeast Road Residences (Cemetery Road)

The Northeast Road is located at the northeast end of the developed area. The road extends from the complex to
the military and civilian cemeteries and was also known as Cemetery Road.

The Northeast Road residence group consists of eight modest single-family homes and lawns, and one duplex, on
both sides of Northeast Road. Except for 376, they are all one story in height. Northeast Road is lined with
Chinese elms and has an attached concrete sidewalk.

Except for Buildings 376 and 234, the houses are nearly identical, one-story cottages with concrete foundations,
non-historic siding and windows dating from 1984, and side-facing asphalt shingled gable roofs. The buildings

are rectangular in plan with one hip-roofed projecting wing on the southeast side, except Buildings 230 and 232,
where the projecting wing is gable roofed. These buildings were identified by the Navy as “ready-cut” cottages.

Building 234 is a duplex, one-story cottage with sandstone walls and foundation, painted wood shingle siding,
and an asphalt-shingled gable roof. It is rectangular in plan with a projecting bay on the southeast side that
appears to have been a screened porch that was enclosed with non-historic siding and windows. The northeast
side has a center bay enclosed by non-historic siding and non-historic windows. This may have been an entry
porch that was later enclosed.

The building numbers do not correspond to the building numbers on a 1920 Navy map, although the footprints of
buildings 230, 232, 235, 236, 237 and 376 do correspond to the 1920 drawing. The buildings are small and most
are on concrete foundations rather than sandstone foundations. Navy records indicate that eleven cottages were
moved to Northeast Road from the vicinity of the old Administration Building.

Building 376 is a 1-1/2-story single-family frame house with a concrete foundation, non-historic siding, non-
historic windows and doors, and a front-facing asphalt-shingled gable roof. The building is rectangular in plan,
with a single-story hip-roofed projecting bay on the south side.

Buildings no longer extant along Northeast Road include the New Marine Barracks 207, the Red Cross building
358, and seven long narrow rectangular buildings shown on a 1921 Navy map but not identified.

The Northeast Road buildings are in fair condition and retain integrity of setting, design, feeling, and association.
Integrity of location dates from the early VA period. Integrity of materials and workmanship is lost due to
exterior modifications.

Associated Buildings and Structures: Contributing

Associated contributing structures include personnel garage 247, built in 1936 by the VA. Building 247 is located
north of Buildings 324 and 323. It is a single-story shed-roofed multiple-car garage, constructed of white-painted
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structural clay tile walls on a concrete foundation. It has 19 red garage doors plus one personnel door, all facing
south. There are 20 boarded-up windows on the north side.

Associated contributing structures also include pumphouse 359 built by the Navy in 1918, north of “G” Street, as
well as the Gas Meter House 363 and Gas Regulator House 364. These are one-story utilitarian structures built
by the VA in 1930 in support of the north residential areas. They are located on the west side of the Gate Road,
west of the Petty Officers’ Row. Personnel garage 365 was built by the VA in 1930. It is on the west side of the
Gate Road, opposite “F” Street, and south of 363 and 364.

Transformer house 366 was built by the VA in 1930, and pumphouse 367 was built by the Navy in 1917. These
are located north of Lovers’ Lane.

Associated contributing structures include two pumphouses, 396 and 397, built by the VA in 1952 and 1951
respectively. The pumphouses are adjacent to two concrete reservoirs (collectively structure 510) located on
both sides of Northeast Road, north of the residences. The concrete reservoirs were built by the VA in 1947,
They are enclosed with chamn-link fencing and covered with protective netting.

Associated Buildings and Structures: Noncontributing

Associated noncontributing structures include pumphouse 249 built by the VA after 1953 on the south side of
Lovers’ Lane. Water Tower 390, south of “G” Street, was built by the VA in the 1990s.

Building 17

Location: “A” Street south of Building 7
Historic names: Army: Quartermaster Warehouse

Navy: Horse Barn
VA:  Storage

Historic use: Army: Part of Quartermaster facilities south of main complex
Navy: Part of Dairy Farm complex south of “A” Street
VA:  Storage building

Current: Warehouse/shops
Date of construction: 1868
Architect/Builder: Army
Photographs: 148 - 150

Building 17 is located south of Building 7. It is a one-story building with a full basement. The building is
rectangular in plan, with its long axis running east and west. The primary exterior material is dressed native
sandstone rectangular blocks, irregularly coursed, with a stone belt course at the top of the foundation. The roof
is a front-facing gable with gray asphalt shingles. The primary elevation faces north. The architectural design is
utilitarian.

The building extends approximately 100 feet from east to west and 42 feet from north to south. There are two
non-original additions of enclosed vestibules at the north and west sides, installed before 1981. Both are gable
roofed and constructed of painted white lap siding. There is a non-historic metal overhead service door on the

east side installed after 1953.

The fenestration consists of evenly-spaced painted wood sash single-hung windows, divided light 6/6 pattern,
with stone sills and lintels. Windows are in poor condition. The south side has a large opening to the upper floor,
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with a stone arch and keystone, with a pair of painted wood arched swinging service doors and a metal ship’s
ladder.

The interior has been remodeled extensively and is no longer character-defining.
Integrity

Character-defining features of Building 17
Native sandstone exterior walls
Gable roof
Divided light windows with stone sills and lintels
Arched opening on south side

Building 17 is in fair condition. It retains overall integrity of location, design, materials, workmanship,
association, and feeling. Integrity of setting is lost due to the removal of the associated horse barn and
quartermaster facilities, construction of the dike, and the widening of “A” Street to include parking areas.

Building 19

Location: “A” Street south of Building 3
Historic names: Army: Commissary Warehouse or South Storehouse

Navy: Recreation Building
VA:  Nursing Service

Historic use: Army: Part of service facilities south of main complex
Navy: Recreation facility with theater, movie house, billiards, library, barber, and

canteen
VA:  Storage building
Current: Offices/Training
Date of construction: 1868
Architect/Builder: Army
Photographs: 151 - 154

Building 19 is located south of Building 3. It is a one-story building with a full basement. The building is
rectangular in plan, with its long axis running east and west. The primary exterior material is dressed native
sandstone rectangular blocks, irregularly coursed, with a stone belt course at the top of the foundation. The roof
is a simple gable with gray asphalt shingles. The primary elevation faces west. The building is utilitarian in
design.

The building extends approximately 100 feet from east to west and 42 feet from north to south. The west side has
concrete exterior stairs to the north and south, leading to the front entry, with a stone wall beside the stairs. The
entry has a cornerstone reading “1867 Capn Kirk.” It is believed that construction was completed in 1868. The
east side has a two-story stone elevator enclosure with non-historic aluminum window framing and gabled roofs.
The fenestration consists of evenly-spaced non-historic aluminum windows, with stone sills and lintels. The
south and north sides have large historic arched openings into the upper level, with stone arches and keystones.
Both openings were filled in before 1981.

The interior has been remodeled several times and is no longer character-defining.
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Integrity

Character-defining features of Building 19
Native sandstone exterior walls
Gable roof
Arched openings on north and south sides

Building 19 is in fair condition. It retains overall integrity of location, design, materials, workmanship,
association, and feeling. Integrity of setting is lost due to the removal of the historically associated utility
buildings, the widening of “A” Street to include parking areas, and construction of the dike.

Building 24

Location: Southeast of Building 19, south of “A” Street
Historic names: Navy: Dairymen’s Cottage
VA:  Storage
Historic use: Navy: Part of Dairy Farm complex south of “A” Street
VA:  Storage building
Current: Lock Shop/Armory
Date of construction: 1917
Architect/Builder: Navy
Photographs: 155 - 157

Building 24 is located south of Building 19. It is a one-story building with no basement. The building is
rectangular in plan, with its long axis running east and west. The building extends approximately 59 feet from
east to west and 30 feet from north to south. The primary exterior material is native sandstone blocks. The roof
is a side-facing gable with gray asphalt shingles. There are four exterior doors, two on each of the long
elevations. The fenestration consists of painted wood sash single-hung windows with stone sills and lintels. The
architectural design is utilitarian.

The interior has been remodeled several times and is no longer character-defining.
Integrity

Character-defining features of Building 24
Native sandstone exterior walls
Gable roof
Divided light windows with stone lintels

Building 24 is in fair condition. It retains overall integrity of location, design, materials, workmanship,
association, and feeling. Integrity of setting is lost due to the removal of the dairy facilities, the construction of
the dike, and the widening of “A” Street to include parking areas.
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Building 121

Location: East of Building 4
Historic names: Navy: Storage
VA:  Engineering Storage
Historic use: Storage
Current: Lumber Storage
Date of construction: 1916
Architect/Builder: Navy
Photographs: 158 - 159

Building 121 is located east of Building 4, outside of the main security fence. It is a one-story building with no
basement. The building consists of two rectangular buildings that are attached end-to-end, with the southern
section being wider and taller. The primary exterior material is irregularly shaped native sandstone. The roofs
are gray asphalt shingled gables, with the smaller north roof tying into the side of the southern building’s north
exterior wall. The architectural design is utilitarian.

The building is surrounded by asphalt paving. There is a gated and fenced storage yard to the south. The south
portion of the building appears to be older.

The northern section is 20 feet wide from east to west, and 30 feet long from north to south. The southern
section is 30 feet from east to west and 40 feet long from north to south.

Windows have stone sills and lintels in some locations, but in many locations the sills and lintels have been
replaced with concrete. The windows have been covered over from the exterior with plywood or stone, but
historic wood sash 6/6 divided light windows are intact inside. The south side has a pair of historic diagonal
wood board service doors,

The interior of the building is historically intact and character-defining. The interior is divided into two large
open spaces, which appear to represent two different construction episodes. The interior has wood board
flooring, exposed wood rafters and stone walls, and an old loft door opening in the stone wall between the two
sections. The loft door has been filled in.

Integrity

Character-defining features of Building 121
Native sandstone exterior walls
Gable roof
Interior open space with exposed rafters, stone walls, and wood board flooring

Building 121 is in poor condition. It retains overall integrity of location, design, materials, workmanship,
association, and feeling. Integrity of setting is lost due to the removal of Fourth Street, removal of adjacent
associated Navy buildings, and construction of the dike.
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Building 123

Location: East of Building 4
Historic names: Navy: Lumber Shed
VA:  Lumber Storage
Historic use: Storage
Current: Lumber Storage
Date of construction: 1916
Architect/Builder: Navy
Photographs: 160

Building 123 is located east of Building 4, outside of the main security fence. It is a one-story stone shed with an
offset gable roof with gray asphalt shingles. The building is rectangular in plan, with its long axis running north
and south. The east, north, and south walls are irregularly-shaped rubble native sandstone. The west side
consists of four bays open to the exterior, with a fifth enclosed bay at the south end. The architectural design is
utilitarian.

The building extends approximately 80 feet from north to south and 30 feet from east to west. The structure
consists of stone bearing walls with four interior exposed stone columns. Wood roof framing is exposed, as are
interior wood shelves and racks for storing lumber.

There are no windows. The southernmost bay is enclosed with wood paneling and has two non-historic hollow
metal doors. The interior of the building is intact and character-defining.

Integrity

Character-defining features of Building 123
Native rubble sandstone exterior walls
Gable roof

Open structure with exposed stone columns and wood roof rafters

Building 123 is in fair condition. It retains overall integrity of location, design, materials, workmanship,
association, and feeling. Integrity of setting is lost due to the removal of Fourth Street, removal of adjacent
associated Navy buildings, and construction of the dike.

Building 201

Location: Northwest of Utility Area
Historic names: Army: Hospital

Navy: Men’s Infirmary
VA: Fire Station and Recreation

Historic use: Army: Hospital
Navy: Expanded and used for Men’s Infirmary
VA:  Fire Station, Music, Chapel, Recreation, and Storage

Current: Interim Lock Shop
Date of construction: 1868, with major expansion 1907 - 1911
Architect/Builder: Army, with major expansion by Navy
Photographs: 161 - 166
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Building 201 is located northwest of the Ultility Area, but outside of the Utility Area security fence. It is a one-
story building with a complex floor plan consisting of two main rectangular wings in a tee-configuration, plus
two smaller projecting wings. The primary elevation consists of locally quarried native sandstone, cut to
rectangular blocks of irregular sizes. The roof consists of intersecting gables. The architectural design is
utilitarian.

The north-south wing of the building is approximately 130 feet long by 30 feet wide. This wing, along with a
small projecting wing on the east side, was the original Army hospital. Projecting wings on the west side (100
feet by 20 feet) and the east side (30 by 30) were added by the Navy, and these still exist.

The Navy greatly expanded the building to the east with a complex of buildings referred to in Navy documents as
“Lean-Tos.” The Navy also expanded it to the west with two major wings. It was used as the Men’s Infirmary.
Over a period of time, most of these additions were removed by the VA, with the last one being demolished in
1955.

Various modifications and repairs over the years are evidenced by different colors and styles of stonework and
jointing. In some places the joints are tooled, while in other locations they are not.

Fenestration consists of simple punched openings with stone lintels and sills. The windows are non-historic
aluminum double-hung windows with historic stone lintels and sills. The east side has two large service door
openings with non-historic metal overhead doors. Personnel doors in various locations have been replaced with
non-historic wood doors or infill panels.

The interior has been extensively remodeled and is no longer character-defining.
Integrity
Character-defining features of Building 201

Native sandstone exterior walls

Gable roof
Windows with stone sills and lintels

Building 201 is in fair condition. It retains overall integrity of location, workmanship, and materials. Integrity of
design, setting, feeling, and association have been compromised by the removal of numerous wings constructed

by the Navy. While the building appears mostly consistent with its appearance during the Army period, the
setting is not consistent with that time period.

Utility Area
Location: East of Officers’ Row and Petty Officers’ Row

Contributing resources:

037  Laundry 1952 VA

127  Paint Shop 1916 Navy
128  Engineering Office 1916 Navy
130  Main Garage 1906 - 1921 Navy
131 Storage 1906 — 1921 Navy
147  Grounds Section 1916 Navy

221 Power House 1908 Navy



NPS Form 10-900a  (Rev. 8/86) OMB No. 1024-0018

National Register of Historic Places United States Department of the Interior
Continuation Sheet National Park Service
Fort Lyon Bent County, Colorado Section number _7  Page 41

223 Storage 1916 Navy

225 Storage 1918 Navy

226  Engineering Equipment Shop 1925 VA

246 Greenhouse 1940 VA

389  Root Cellar 1945 VA

Noncontributing resources:
Single security fence 2002 CDOC
Shed north of 128

Photographs: 167 - 202

The Utility Area is located northeast of the Parade Ground and immediately west of the eastern perimeter dike.
This grouping of buildings and drives, in an area about 600 feet long by 400 feet wide, includes four primary
buildings and eight smaller buildings or sheds. There is no landscaping. The two buildings in the northern part of
the area (37 and 246) are constructed along the east-west grid. The remaining buildings are located along an
extension of “D” Street that turns southeast, at about a 25-degree angle, toward the old overflow bank of the
Arkansas River. Most of the buildings are simple one-story utilitarian structures constructed of locally quarried
tan sandstone blocks with gable roofs. They were built by the Navy between 1906 and 1921, except for the
Engineering Equipment Shop, Greenhouse, Root Cellar, and Laundry, which were built by the VA. Most of the
buildings are in fair condition, and have integrity of location, design, materials, workmanship, feeling, and
association, dating from the VA period. Due to the construction of the dike in 1939, the Utility Area does not
have integrity of setting.

During the Army period, the Utility Area in its present form did not exist. Several Laundress Quarters, no longer
extant, were located along the riverbank in this general vicinity. The Utility Area began to take shape during the
Navy period, when most of the buildings were constructed, along with a large Coal Bunker along the riverbank.
The Coal Bunker is no longer extant.

Construction of the noncontributing dike by the Army Corps of Engineers in 1939 had a major impact on the
setting of the Utility Area. For all of these reasons the integrity of the Utility Area dates from the VA period.
The VA built three buildings in the Utility Area—the Greenhouse and associated Root Cellar in 1940 and 1945,
respectively; and the Laundry in 1952. The setting was further impacted by construction of the outer security
fence by the Colorado Department of Corrections in 2002. This area is now enclosed within a single security
fence but is outside of the double security fence.

The primary resources in the Utility Area are the Power House, Main Garage, Engineering Office, and Laundry.

Building 37: Laundry

The Laundry, Building 37, is located at the north end of the Utility Area. It is a tall one-story Modern brick
building with a brick parapet and flat roof. It is rectangular in plan with lower-height projecting bays on the
south and east sides. The building is 130 feet long from east to west, and 50 feet wide. The building has grass on
the east and north sides, and paved service drives along the west and south sides. There is an exposed concrete
foundation and red brick exterior walls of running bond with stretchers every sixth course. Windows are dark
bronze anodized aluminum with gray tinted glass. Loading docks with overhead doors face east and west. The
Laundry has integrity of location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and association. The
Laundry was built after the dike so it has integrity of setting. The building is in good condition. The building
interior was remodeled and re-equipped in the 1980s.
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Buildings 127: Paint Shop and Building
128: Engineering Office

Paint Shop 127 is an associated outbuilding west of the Engineering Office. The Engineering Office, Building
128, is located west of the Main Garage, on the south side of the “D” Street extension. It is a single-story
utilitarian building, rectangular in plan with projecting bays on the east and west sides. The building is 90 feet
long from northeast to southwest, and 50 feet wide. The south and west sides have grass landscaping and
concrete sidewalks, while the east and north sides are surrounded by the asphalt driving surface typical of the
Utility Area. The exterior walls of the Engineering Office are constructed of cut rectangular tan-colored
sandstone blocks. The main roof is gabled, covered with gray asphalt shingles. Two projecting bays on the east
side terminate in a hip roof. Windows are steel sash divided light with concrete sills and lintels, which are
probably replacements for original stone. The east side has divided-light steel sash windows with concrete sills
and lintels. The Engineering Office retains overall integrity of location, design, materials, workmanship, feeling,
and association. Integrity of setting is compromised by the dike and the security fence. Building 128 1s in fair
condition.

There is a noncontributing shed to the north of Building 128.

Buildings 130: Main Garage
131: Storage
147: Grounds Section

The Main Garage, Building 130, and the attached Grounds Section, Building 147, are immediately west of the
Power House, on the south side of the “D” Street extension. The buildings are surrounded by asphalt pavement.
The Main Garage is a rectangular single-story utilitarian structure with a gable roof. The Grounds Section is an
L-shaped one-story utilitarian building with a shed roof. It is attached to the southeast corner of the Main
Garage, forming a rectangular service yard, 80 feet wide by 100 feet long, between the two buildings. The Main
Garage is 110 feet long and 50 feet wide. Its exterior walls are tan sandstone cut rectangular blocks. The roof'is
a simple gable with gray asphalt shingles and a central wood cupola roof vent. Windows are divided light wood
sash with stone lintels and sills. The Main Garage retains overall integrity of location, design, materials,
workmanship, feeling, and association. Integrity of setting is compromised by the dike and the security fence.
The building is in fair condition.

Storage shed 131 is east of the Main Garage and is an associated outbuilding.

The Grounds Section building faces inward to the service yard. The east wing is 80 feet long and 20 feet wide,
and the south wing is 100 feet long and 20 feet wide. On the service yard sides (east and north elevations) the
building has horizontal wood lap siding with ten wood sectional overhead doors and one personnel door facing
north. Three personnel doors and one wood sectional overhead door face west. The east and south elevations
(facing outside), the building walls are constructed of cut sandstone blocks, with four-light wood sash windows
with stone lintels and sills. The Grounds Section retains overall integrity of location, design, materials,
workmanship, feeling, and association. Integrity of setting is compromised by the dike and the security fence.
The building is in fair condition.

Building 221: Power House

The Power House, Building 221, is located at the southeast end of the southeast extension of “D” Street. The
building is surrounded with asphalt pavement. Its long axis runs from northeast to southwest. The building is
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utilitarian in design, constructed of cut tan sandstone blocks, with gable roofs of asphalt shingles, corrugated
steel, and standing seam metal roofing at various locations, and horizontal wood siding, standing seam metal, or
stone gables. The Power House is a combination of two 2-story rectangular buildings set at right angles to each
other, with a single-story connection between them. There is a shed addition on the east side. The entire
building is about 220 feet long from northeast to southwest. It varies in width from 50 to 90 feet. The exterior
features a wide variety of openings, including wood sash and metal sash divided-light windows with stone sills
and lintels, and a variety of personnel doors and vehicle doors at various locations around the building. Many
openings have been fully or partially filled in with painted wood, metal, or louvers. The Power House retains
overall integrity of location, feeling, and association. Integrity of materials, design, and workmanship are
compromised by the wide variety of modifications to the roofing, windows, and doors. Integrity of setting is
compromised by the dike and the security fence. The building is in fair condition.

Buildings 223: Storage
225: Storage
226: Engineering Equipment Shop

Buildings 223, 225, and 226 are single-story, rectangular utilitarian outbuildings located east of the Power House.
They all have gable roofs with asphalt shingles. Building 226 is sheathed in corrugated metal siding. Buildings
223 and 225 have roughly cut rectangular sandstone blocks walls.

Buildings 246: Greenhouse
389: Root Cellar

The Greenhouse is located west of Building 221. The Root Cellar is a small associated structure located
immediately east of the Greenhouse.

The Greenhouse is a one-story building, L-shaped in plan with a gable roof. One full leg of the ell, plus a portion
of the other leg, have a rectangular cut sandstone stem wall with a steel and wood-framed gabled greenhouse
structure above. Most of the corrugated fiberglass panels in the greenhouse roof and walls were destroyed in a
2001 hailstorm. They have not been replaced. At one end of the ell there is a single-story stone structure,
constructed of rectangular cut local sandstone blocks. It has a front-facing gable roof with gray asphalt shingles.
Historic divided light wood sash windows with 6/6 pattern, arched stone lintels, and stone sills, still exist.

The Root Cellar is a single-story, utilitarian structure constructed of cut rectangular blocks of local sandstone. It
has a side-facing gable roof with asphalt shingles. The window openings have been filled in with concrete
blocks, and the door opening has been closed off with plywood.

Integrity
The primary non-historic intrusions in the Utility Area are the dike and the single security fence.

Character-defining features of the Utility Area:
Simple one-story utilitarian buildings
Sandstone walls
Gable roofs
- Divided light steel or wood windows with stone lintels and sills
Mostly pavement with little landscaping



NPS Form 10-900a  (Rev. 8/86) OMB No. 1024-0018

National Register of Historic Places United States Department of the Interior
Continuation Sheet National Park Service
Fort Lyon Bent County, Colorado Section number _7  Page 44

Construction of the noncontributing dike by the Army Corps of Engineers in 1939 had a major impact on the

setting of the Utility Area. The setting was further impacted by construction of the outer security fence by the
Colorado Department of Corrections in 2002. This area is now enclosed within a single security fence but is

outside of the double security fence.

Buildings from the Navy period in the Utility area that no longer exist include the Navy Laundry 216,
Disinfecting Building 219, Engineering Storehouse 138, Reservoir 136, Storage Tank 135, Bakery 119, Lumber
Shed 123, and eleven other small structures that appear on a 1920 Navy map but are not identified.

Wastewater Treatment Area

Location: Southeast corner of site, west of eastern perimeter dike
Historic name: Wastewater Treatment Area
Historic use: Wastewater treatment
Current use: Wastewater treatment
Date of construction: 1949
Architect/builder: VA

Contributing Resources:

039 Sludge Beds 1949
040  Chlorinator 1949
043 Digester and Control House 1949
045 Incinerator 1949

Noncontributing Resources
- Brick building with hip roof 1980

Photographs: 205 -210

The Wastewater Treatment Area is located at the southeast corner of the site, directly west of the eastern
perimeter dike. This grouping of buildings and structures is in an area about 300 feet long from north to south by
120 feet wide from east to west. The area is fenced off with a chain link fence but is outside the main security
fence. There is no landscaping. The Wastewater Treatment Area includes sludge beds, chlorine chamber, catch
basin, a non-historic Effluent Lift, and two contributing structures, the Digester and Control House, and the
Incinerator.

The primary structures in the Wastewater Treatment Area are treatment ponds and basins, the Digester and
Control House 43, and the Incinerator 45. There is a noncontributing one-story brick building with a large hip
roof that was built in 1980.

The treatment ponds, sludge beds, and basins consist of lined concrete ponds surrounded by chain link fencing.
There is a system of steel and concrete walkways with metal handrails between the ponds.

The chlorinator is located in a two-level shed-roofed structure with metal siding, exposed concrete foundation,
and exterior steel exit stairs from the second level.
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Building 43: Digester and Control House

The Digester and Control House is a simple one-story utilitarian red brick structure that is nearly square in plan.
It is constructed of red brick on a concrete foundation. It has a flat parapet roof, concrete coping, and a
continuous exposed concrete bond beam at the head height of all of the openings. The building has steel sash
divided-light windows and steel personnel doors with metal transom panels. There is a steel overhead door.

Building 45: Incinerator

The Incinerator is at the north end of the Wastewater Treatment area. It is a simple one-story red brick utilitarian
structure, rectangular in plan, with a tall attached square brick smoke stack on the west side. The building has an
exposed concrete foundation, and a flat parapet roof with concrete coping and a continuous exposed concrete
bond beam at the head height of the openings. The building has steel sash divided-light windows and steel
personnel doors with metal transom panels. There is a steel overhead door. The smoke stack appears to be about
40 feet tall. It is constructed of red brick on a concrete foundation and is unadorned.

Integrity

The Wastewater Treatment Area is in good condition and retains overall integrity of location, design, setting,
materials, workmanship, feeling, and association, dating from the early VA period when most of it was built.

Character-defining features of the Wastewater Treatment Area:
Simple utilitarian red brick structures
Concrete foundations
Exposed concrete bond beam
Steel sash divided light windows
Irregular assemblage of buildings and structures inside metal fence

Recreational Facilities
Location: North and east of residential area
Historic uses: Baseball and tennis

Current uses: Not currently used

Contributing Resources:

145  Tool House and Toilets 1944
379  Baseball Grandstand 1944
Baseball Field 1934
Noncontributing Resources:
Shed north of grandstand
520 Recreation Facility 1978
521 Swimming Pool 1978
522 Mechanical Building 1978
Playground 2003

Tennis Courts
Photographs: 212 - 218
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Recreational facilities dating from the early VA period that are still extant include the baseball field and the
grandstand. The tennis and handball courts during the Navy period were further west, and the baseball field was
further north. There was also a swimming pool during the Navy period that has been replaced by a 1977 pool,
currently used as a fish hatchery. A miniature golf course built by the VA north of Building 401 has been
removed.

The baseball facilities, associated toilet and tool house, and the tennis courts are at the north end of the complex,
west of Northeast Road and north of “E” Street.

The contributing resources have integrity of location, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and association,
dating from the VA period when they were built. The recreational facilities dating from the Navy period no
longer exist.

145: Tool House and Toilets

Building 145 is a simple one-story sandstone building with a gable roof. It is built of local native sandstone, cut
rectangular blocks. Windows have been boarded up. There are two non-historic doors.

379: Baseball Grandstand and Baseball Field

The baseball grandstand is a stone structure covered by a metal-framed roof canopy. The grandstand is curved in
plan and faces north. There are eight bays of steel columns facing toward the playing field, with eight rows of
spectator seating. There is an announcer’s booth in the center at the top. The curved stone back wall is
constructed of tan native sandstone blocks. There are eight doors with stone headers in the south side of the
curved stone wall. The canopy roofing is non-historic standing seam metal. The baseball grandstand has a
cornerstone with a 1944 date inscribed on it.

Bleachers are poured concrete between stone supports. Some are open below, revealing a stone or glazed clay tile
back wall. Dugouts are painted concrete block with a corrugated steel canopy on wood framing. There is a wood-
framed announcer’s booth with exterior corrugated metal sheathing and interior plywood siding.

The baseball field is to the north of the grandstand and is enclosed by a chain link fence.

Character-defining features of the grandstand are:
Curved stone wall
Steel canopy
Concrete bleachers on stone supports

Tennis Courts

The tennis courts are on east “F” Street, west of the Recreation Facility. The surface is asphalt and the area is
surrounded by chain link fencing. Originally constructed during the early VA period, the VA relocated the courts
after 1956 and are considered to be noncontributing.

Noncontributing resources of a recreational nature include a painted concrete block, gable-roofed shed north of
the grandstand, and a 1978 complex including a recreation building, swimming pool, and mechanical building.
The recreation building is a brick building with a shed roof and a shed-roof canopy on the north side facing the
pool. The swimming pool is concrete, surrounded by chain link fencing and covered with netting. It is currently
being used on an experimental basis to raise fish. There is a small mechanical shed on the northeast corner of the
pool. A playground was added by CDOC in 2003 between “D” and “F” Streets, west of Building 324.
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West Farm

Location: Northwest corner of the intersection of West Farm Road and Bent County Road 15
Ownership: Privately owned

Contributing resources:

142 Dairy Barn 1944 VA
143 Bull Bamn ca. 1944 VA
144  Feeding Barn ca. 1944 VA
385  Horse Barn ca. 1944 VA

386  Implement Shed ca.1944 VA

Associated noncontributing resource:
514 Pumphouse

Photographs: 219 - 226

The West Farm is located at the far southeastern extremity of the district, at the intersection of West Farm Road
with the south end of Bent County Road 15. This is a grouping of agricultural buildings, built by the VA in
support of the goal of agricultural self-sufficiency for the medical center. The farm has been privately owned and
operated for some time, and is currently being acquired by CDOC.

Building 142: Dairy Barn

Building 142 is located along County Road 15, just north of its intersection with West Farm Road. It is a simple
utilitarian building, a long single-story rectangular plan with three projecting wings on the west side. The long
axis runs north and south, parallel to the County road. The building is constructed of tan local sandstone blocks,
laid up in ashlar fashion. There are areas of red brick infill which may be later attempts at repairs. Windows are
original wood sash divided light. Some of the windows are boarded up.

The roofs are gabled, with corrugated metal roofing on wood framing with exposed rafter tails. Gable siding is
corrugated metal in some locations and board and batten siding in others. There are large non-historic metal roof
vents.

Building 143: Bull Barn

The Bull Barn is located east of the north end of Building 142. It is a two-story utilitarian building with attached
fenced outdoor pens separated from each other by stone walls. The building is constructed of local sandstone cut
rectangular blocks, ashlar pattern, with areas of red brick infill that may be repairs. It has a side-facing gable roof
with asphalt shingles, exposed wood structure and exposed rafter tails. There is a dormer on the north side. The
windows are original wood sash 4-light windows, with security bars added at a later date. Lintels are original
stone, with some concrete replacements. Wood board exterior doors are original.

The interior consists of an upper-level walkway with openings into four bullpens below. All interior walls are
stone. Each bullpen contains an intact feeding trough.
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Figure 18. West Farm in operation at Fort Lyon in 1919-1920. (Source: Western History/Genealogy
Department, Denver Public Library)

Building 144: Feeding Barn

The Feeding Barn is at the north end of the complex. It is a long, narrow, rectangular building, with its long axis
running east to west. It is a simple one-story utilitarian building. It has 34 bays, open to the south, with steel
posts supporting a wood-framed shed roof. The north elevation has a sandstone wall about 3 feet high, with a
framed wooden wall above. The lower portions of the end walls are sandstone, with wood siding above.

There is a concrete feed trough inside the barn. The westernmost bays are enclosed with chain link fencing.
Building 385: Horse Barn

The Horse Barn is on the north side of West Farm Road, east of Buildings 142, 143, and 144. It is a rectangular
plan building with a concrete foundation, red-painted wood board and batten siding, and a gambrel roof with
asphalt shingles. The original wood sash 4-light windows are still in place, with non-historic white security grates
outside of them. Original board doors and loft doors are still in place. The roof has two cupola vents. There is a
fenced paddock to the north of the bam.

Building 386: Implement Shed
The Implement Shed is the easternmost building in the West Farm. It is a long rectangular plan building on the

north side of West Farm Road, just east of Building 385. Its long axis runs east to west. The building is a single-
story utilitarian building with a painted concrete foundation, red painted vertical wood board siding, and a gable
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roof covered with corrugated tin roofing. Along the south side there are large sliding wooden utility barn doors.
The windows are original, wood sash four-lights, with non-historic security grates.

Integrity

The West Farm is in fair condition. The complex retains overall integrity of location, setting, design, materials,
workmanship, feeling, and association, dating from the early VA period when it was built.

Character-defining features of the West Farm:
Simple utilitarian stone and wood structures
Stone interior of Bull Barn

Historic Street and Road System (Contributing)

The historic system of streets and roads on the property is composed of twelve streets and three roads. The
streets are those vehicle pathways within the core residential area of the property. Lettered streets trend east-west
and numbered streets trend north-south. The roads are those vehicle pathways that extend outward from the core
residential area to the boundaries of the property. They vary in their lengths and widths and in their associated
historic features. Concrete curbs and sidewalks are associated with some but not all of them. The street and road
system dates to two of the periods of significance at Fort Lyon. Most of the streets and roads around the core of
the facility were laid out and constructed during the Navy period, the primary period of significance (“A” Street,
“B” Street, “C” Street, the alleyway behind Officers Row, “D” Street, “E” Street, “First” Street, “Second” Street,
“Third” Street, “Gate Road,” and the southern portion of “Northeast Road”). A few of the streets and roads in
the northern portion of the property were constructed during the early VA period (alleyway behind Petty Officers
Row), “F” Street, East “F” Street, western portion of “G” Street, “West Farm Road”, northern portion of
“Northeast Road”, and 5SBN578). A few of the streets and roads on the property appear to be of modern (post
1956) construction (“Lovers Lane,” “South Orchard Road,” eastern portion of “G” Street, “Perimeter Road”) and
are non-historic segments of the system.

The historic street and road system is largely intact and contributes to the overall eligibility of the property.
Historic maps and photos indicate that all of the streets and roads possess integrity of location, design, and
workmanship. Historic photographs and property descriptions suggest that the paving of the streets and the
construction of the associated concrete curbs and sidewalks occurred during the latter portion (1917-1919) of the
Navy Period, the primary period of significance at Fort Lyon. The system however appears to lack integrity of
materials as all of the streets and roads are currently constructed of asphalt but were likely originally constructed
simply of dirt. Additionally, they appear to have been resurfaced but this has had little if any affect on the overall
integrity of the system. The aspects of setting and feeling have been compromised to a limited degree by the
addition of some recent features. The construction of two parallel chain link fences at the south end of the
property around the Parade Ground and some of the dormitory buildings impacts only a small portion of the
overall system. Minor features of recent origin such as bus stops, light poles, concrete dumpster aprons, and
posted signs for the correctional facility also do not diminish the overall integrity of the system. Descriptions of
the individual segments (streets and roads) of the system are as follow:

“A” Street was a street approximately 1100 feet in length that extended between First Street and a parking lot
access road at the south end of the property between Buildings 17 and 19 and the patient buildings. The street
has been obliterated by the recent construction of the two, parallel, chain link fences with razor wire on top at the
south end of the property.
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“B” Street 1s a two-lane street that extends along the south side of the Parade Ground in front of the former
patient buildings. It is approximately 750 feet long and 30 feet wide with an associated concrete sidewalk along
its south side. It appears on a 1921 map of the property (1) and was likely built during the first Navy construction
period between 1908 and 1911. (2) The street is currently located within the area enclosed by the two parallel
chain link fences. The fences cross the extreme west end of the street.

“C” Street is a two-lane street that extends along the north side of the Parade Ground and the south side of
Officers Row. It is approximately 984 feet long and 30 feet wide with concrete curbs on both sides and a
concrete sidewalk paralleling it on its north side at an approximate 5 foot offset. Elm trees line the north side of
the street. The street appears on a 1919-1920 photograph of the property (3) and was likely built during the first
Navy construction period between 1908 and 1911. (4) The two parallel chain link fences border the road on the
south.

A one-lane alleyway extends along the north side of Officers Row. It is approximately 984 feet long and 15 feet
wide with a concrete curb on its north side as well as six associated triangular-shaped concrete aprons for trash
dumpsters. Elm trees line the north side of the alleyway. The strect appears in a 1908-1911 photograph of the
property (5) as a narrow dirt road.

“D” Street is a two-lane street extending along the south side of Petty Officers Row between “Gate Road” and
“Northeast Road.” It is approximately 984 feet long and 30 feet wide with concrete curbs along both sides and a
sidewalk paralleling it on its north side at an approximate 5 foot offset. Elm trees line both sides of the street.
Power poles and streetlights line the south side of the street and signs are posted on both sides. One bus stop
shelter is present on south side of street at its west end. The street is depicted as a dirt road in a photograph of
the first Navy construction period between 1908 and 1911. (6)

A one-lane street extends between “Gate Road” and “Northeast Road” behind Petty Officers Row. It is
approximately 984 feet long and 12 feet wide with no associated curbs or sidewalks. Elm trees line the south
side of the alleyway. Power poles and streetlights line the north side of the street. Temporary housing for
construction personnel has been erected at its east end. The street appears to have been constructed during the
VA Period between 1936 and 1955 based on a historic aerial photograph of the property (7) and a map from the
VA Period. (8)

“E” Street is a two-lane street between “Gate Road” and the “Northeast Road” north of Petty Officers Row. Itis
approximately 984 feet long and 23 feet wide with concrete sidewalks paralleling it on either side. Elm trecs line
both sides of the street. Streetlights are located along the south side of the street and a bus stop shelter is located
along the north side at the east end of the street. Signs are posted on both sides of the street. The street is
depicted on 1920 map of the photograph of the property (9) and was likely built during the first Navy
construction period between 1908 and 1911. (10)

“F” Street is a one-lane street located at the north end of the core area between Gate Road and the tennis courts.
It is approximately 853 feet long and 15 feet wide with a concrete sidewalk paralleling it on its north side. Two
concrete aprons for trash dumpsters are located along the south side of the street and power poles and streetlights
are located along the north side. Elm trees line both sides of the street. The street does not appear on a 1936
aerial photograph of Fort Lyon (11) but is depicted on a 1955 map of the property. (12) It thus appears to have
been constructed during the early VA period between 1936 and 1955.

East “F” Street is a one-lane street at the northeast end of the core area that extends eastward from Northeast
Road. It is approximately 426 feet long and 16 feet wide with a concrete sidewalk paralleling it on its north side.
Elm trees line the north side of the street with two trees on its south side. Power poles and streetlights are located
on the south side of the strect. The street does not appear on a 1936 aerial photograph of Fort Lyon (13) but is
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depicted on a 1955 map of the property. (14) It thus appears to have been constructed during the early VA period
between 1936 and 1955.

“G” Street is a two-lane street that extends between “Gate Road” and ‘“Northeast Road” along the north edge of
the core area. The historic portion of the road extends approximately 700 feet castward from “Gate Road” to the
first cross street (no name). The portion extending beyond that to the east is a 1979-80 improvement and not part
of the historic road system. It is approximately 19 feet wide and has no associated curbs or sidewalks. Two
concrete aprons for dumpsters are located along its north side and one elm tree is located along its south side.
Streetlights and power poles are located along its north side. The street does not appear on a 1936 aerial
photograph of the property (15) but does appear on a 1950 aerial photograph (16) indicating a construction date
between the two dates.

“First” Street is a two-lane street that extends along the western edge of the property between “A” Street and “C”
Street. It is approximately 775 feet long and 30 feet wide and has concrete curbs on both sides. The street is
depicted on a 1921 map of the property (17) and was likely built during the first Navy construction period
between 1908 and 1911. (18) The double chain link fence is located approximately 15 feet to the east of it.

“Second” Street is a two-lane street that extends along the west side of the Parade Ground in front of Building
401 between “B” Street and “C” Street. It is approximately 480 feet long and 30 feet wide and has concrete
curbs on both sides. The street is depicted on a 1921 map of the property (19) and was likely built during the
first Navy construction period between 1908 and 1911. (20) The street is currently located within the area
enclosed by the two parallel chain link fences.

“Third” Street is a two-lane street that extends along the east side of the Parade Ground between “B” Street and
“C” Street within the fenced yard of the correctional facility. It is approximately 480 feet long and 30 feet wide
and has concrete curbs on both sides. The street is depicted on a 1919-1920 photograph of the property (21) and
was likely built during the first Navy construction period between 1908 and 1911. (22) The street is currently
located within the area enclosed by the two parallel chain link fences.

“Gate Road” is a two-lane road that extends from the west end of “C” Street in a northwesterly direction to the
entrance gate into the property. It is approximately 4,439 feet long and 30 feet wide with a concrete sidewalk on
its east side between “C” Street and “G” Street. It has concrete curbs on both sides between “G” Street and the
entrance gate. Large elm trees line both sides of the road. Streetlights are located along the east side of the road
and signs are posted on both sides. The road is depicted in a 1909-1911 photograph of the property (23)
indicating a construction date during the first Navy construction period. (24)

“West Farm Road” is a two-lane road that extends west from “Gate Road” to the West Farm and the western
boundary of the property. It is approximately 1854 feet long and 20 feet wide with concrete curbs on both sides.
Russian Olives line the north side of the road. The road is not depicted on a 1936 aerial photograph of the
property (25) but is shown on a 1950 aerial photograph (26) indicating it was constructed some time between the
two dates during the early VA period.

“Northeast Road” is a two-lane road extending northeasterly along the east side of the property from the east end
of “D” Street. It is approximately 2825 feet long and 30 feet wide with concrete sidewalks along both sides
between “D” Street and the end of the rows of houses. Elm trees also line both sides of the road and streetlights
line the west side between “E” Street and the end of the row of houses. The portion of the road between “D”
Street and the end of the row of houses is depicted in a 1908-1911 photograph of the property. (27) A 1921 map
of the property (28) indicates the northern portion of the road beyond the row of houses was a two-track road that
was not in its current alignment. The road is depicted in its current alignment and extent in a 1936 photograph of

the property. (29)
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Resource SBN578 is a two-track road extending along the south side of a powerline across the open field north of
the Fort Lyon complex core. The eastern portion of the road appears on a 1921 map of the facility (30) as an
access road to the athletic field. The road is depicted in its current alignment on a 1936 aerial photograph of Fort
Lyon (31). It appears to have functioned as field or powerline access road. The road is no longer in service and
is currently overgrown with vegetation and partially filled with sediment. The east and west ends have been
obliterated by more recent improvements to the property.

Three roads within the boundaries of the property appear to have been constructed after the end of the period of
significance in 1956 and are therefore non-historic segments of the overall system.

“Lovers Lane” is a two-track road that extends along the north side of Ditch #1 between Gate Road and the

baseball field. Maps (32) and aerial photographs (33) of Fort Lyon suggest it was constructed between 1955 and
1964.

An unnamed two-track road (named here “South Orchard Road”) extends eastward along the south side of a
small agricultural field from “Gate Road.” Maps (34) and aerial photographs (35) of Fort Lyon suggest it was
constructed between 1955 and 1964.

The perimeter road is a gravel road that extends around the inside of the dike at the south end of the property
from the south end of “First” Street to the north end of the row of houses along “Northeast Road.” Maps (36)
and aerial photographs (37) of Fort Lyon suggest it was constructed between 1955 and 1964.
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Irrigation Ditch System (Contributing)

The property has a system of seven interconnected ditches that were used for irrigation of the agricultural fields
during the Navy and early VA periods at Fort Lyon. The ditches are all U-shaped and concrete lined. They vary
in length from approximately 200 feet to more than 0.5 miles. They vary in width from 3.5 feet to 5.5 feet and
vary in depth from 2 to 3 feet. Small channels have been cut into the outside walls to allow water in the ditch to
flood the fields that they border. All of the ditches making up the system are currently operational and used to
irrigate agricultural fields on the west of “Gate Road” and north of the West Farm Road, and the grassy tree-lined
strip on both sides of “Gate Road.”

The historic ditch system is associated with the two most significant periods at Fort Lyon (Navy and early VA
periods). It is largely intact and contributes to the overall eligibility of the property. Historic aerial photographs
and other documentation suggest the system evolved over time between 1908 and 1950 as more lands were put
into agricultural production. Ditch s 1, 3, and 5 appear to be the oldest with 2, 2a, and 4 added onto the system.
The ditch system appears to possess most if not all of the aspects of integrity. All of the ditches appear to be in
their original alignments except for some portions of Ditch #3 and Ditch #5. They all also appear to retain
integrity of design, materials, and workmanship. The ditches may have originally been earthen but appear to be
concrete lined in a historic aerial photograph from 1936. (1) The setting for the system has changed little with
conversion of the property from a VA hospital to state correctional facility. The system of ditches is located far
enough away from the fenced area so as to have little if any impact on this aspect of integrity. The integrity of
feeling has been little impacted by changes to the property and the structures themselves since their original
construction. Although the property changed through time, the system was used for irrigation of the agricultural
fields during both periods of significance and it continues to be used for that purpose at the present time. The
changes in the features associated with the system such as removal of the historic reservoir adjacent to Ditch #3
at the north end of the property or the installation of new features such as culverts, headgates, and temporary
diversion structures do not diminish the historic sense of the property. The individual ditches that make up the
system are described below:

Ditch #1 is located just north of “G” Street on the east side of “Gate Road.” It is 895 feet in length, 3.5 feet in
width, and is 2.0 feet deep. From its eastern terminus, it extends around the east and north sides of a small
agricultural field to its intersection with Ditch #2. A small wood frame pumphouse with a front-gabled roof and
a cupola and two metal headgates are associated with ditch along its east-west trending arm. A two-track road
runs along the north side of the ditch on its east-west trending arm (“Lovers Lane”). The current alignment of the
ditch appears to have been constructed at different times between 1908 and 1955. The east-west trending arm of
the ditch may have been constructed between 1908 and 1911 during the Navy Period when the farm and
irrigation systems were first constructed. (2) A row of trees depicted on a map of the Naval Hospital from 1921in
the approximate location of this portion of the ditch suggests it was present by this time. (3) The north-south
trending arm does not appear clearly on maps or in photos until 1950. The ditch is depicted in its current
alignment on a map from the early VA period dated 1955. (4)

Ditch #2 is located along the east side of “Gate Road”. It is 2268 feet in length, 5.5 feet wide, and 2.5 feet deep.
From its intersection with Ditch #1 at its southern terminus, it extends along the east side of the main road “Gate
Road” into Fort Lyon to its northern terminus just beyond its intersection with an east-west trending ditch (Ditch
#3). It has one associated metal culvert where it crosses a former field access road that is no longer

in service with a metal grate and gate across its north end. The northern terminus is on the south side of an east-
west trending cemetery access road. It consists of a round, cement-lined pool area with no outlet approximately 8
feet in diameter. The ditch was likely constructed between 1929 and 1936. It does not appear in a 1929
photograph of the facility (5) but does appear on a 1936 aerial photograph of Fort Lyon. (6)
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Ditch #2a is a small spur that extends eastward from Ditch #2 along the south side of a former field access road.
The ditch is 239 feet long, 4.75 feet wide, and 2.feet deep. It has no associated features and terminates at the
edge of an open field. The date of construction would be sometime after the construction of Ditch #2.

Ditch #3 is located at the northern end of the correctional facility property immediately south of the new Chapel
location. It is 657 feet in length, 5.0 feet wide, and 3.0 feet deep. It extends east from its western terminus at
Ditch #5, crosses underneath “Gate Road”, and continues for a few hundred feet along the south side of the
cemetery access road to its eastern terminus at the edge of an open field. Ditch #4 intersects it on the west side of
“Gate Road” while Ditch #2 intersects it on the east side of “Gate Road.” Features associated with it include two
metal headgates between its intersection with Ditch #4 and Ditch #5, a metal culvert underneath “Gate Road”,
and a concrete foundation of unknown purpose at its west end at the location of a historic reservoir. The western
half of the ditch appears as part of Ditch #5 on the 1921 map of the Naval Hospital (7) and on a 1936 aerial
photograph of Fort Lyon. (8) The eastern half of the ditch in its current alignment appears on an aerial
photograph from 1979-80 after construction of the cemetery access road that it parallels.

Ditch #4 is located along the west side of “Gate Road.” It is 2885 feet in length, 5.5 feet long, and 2.5 feet deep.
It widens to 8 feet at its north end where it intersects with Ditch #3. It southern terminus is across “Gate Road”
from “F” Street. Its northern terminus is at its intersection with Ditch #3. Features associated with it include a
single metal culvert underneath a field access road. Similar to Ditch #2 it does not appear in a 1929 photograph
of the facility (9) but does appear on a 1936 acrial photo of Fort Lyon suggesting a construction date between the
two dates. (10)

Ditch #5 extends north to south along the east side of county road that bounds the property on the west and skirts
the east side of the West Farm. It is 3678 feet long, 5.0 feet wide, and 3.0 feet deep. At its northern end it
widens to 8 feet and has a fence around it. The northern terminus is at the extreme northeast corner of the
correctional facility property. The southern terminus is on the east side of the West Farm north of the “West
Farm Road.” One headgate is associated with the ditch at its intersection with Ditch #3. The ditch appears on a
1921 map of the property as part of Ditch #3 extending south along the east side of the county road to its
terminus at a powerline in the approximate location of the “West Farm Road” today. (11) The south end of the
current ditch alignment that skirts around the east side of the West Farm would have been constructed in the early
1940s when the farm itself was built. The date of construction for the portion north of Ditch #3 appears to have
been after removal of the reservoir between 1964 and 1979.

Ditch #6 is located along the east side of “Gate Road” at the north end of the correctional facility property. It is
681 feet long, 4.5 feet wide, and 3.0 feet deep. It extends from the north side of the cemetery access road along
the east side of “Gate Road” for approxima<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>